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         1       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I have an application.  The

         2       application is that this inquiry not sit in session

         3       tomorrow.  The reasons for the application are many and

         4       varied.  The first is that we have, as of 7 February,

         5       received a large volume of additional material from the

         6       lawyers representing AWB Limited, including 18 volumes of

         7       documents from the IS&M - international sales and

         8       marketing - hard copy files for the period May 2003

         9       to December 2005; three folders of further hard copy

        10       documents for that period; four folders of electronic

        11       diaries of a number of persons, some of whom have given

        12       evidence and some who are yet to give evidence, including

        13       Mr Stott.  We also have inquiries under way to obtain all

        14       material in relation to the Arthur Andersen report, in

        15       particular the October draft.

        16

        17            There are a number of other consequential

        18       investigations and inquiries which are on foot.  I would

        19       like to have those matters further developed before

        20       I continue the bulk of my examination of Mr Stott and

        21       before we embark upon calling other witnesses next week.

        22

        23            There is one other matter, and that is the resolution

        24       of the legal professional privilege issue that I raised in

        25       the hearing room with my learned friend Mr Judd, and which

        26       I must confess I haven't had time to speak to him about.  I

        27       will speak to him about that during the course of the

        28       morning.

        29

        30            For those reasons, Commissioner, those assisting you

        31       believe that the Commission's time, investigative time,

        32       would be better spent tomorrow attending to further

        33       investigations away from the hearing room.  For that

        34       reason, I request we not sit in public session tomorrow.

        35       In fact, there will be no sitting in any session tomorrow,

        36       if my application is acceded to.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anyone oppose the application?

        39       Very well, I shall grant the application.

        40

        41            Mr Judd, would you convey to those instructing you my

        42       disquiet that after three months we still do not have all

        43       the documents.  I appreciate that the Commission may have

        44       asked for documents recently, and perhaps these large

        45       number of volumes of documents relate to a period of time

        46       which were not previously the subject of inquiry, but

        47       I think you understand my concern to ensure that we do have
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         1       all relevant documents, and promptly.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   We do, sir.  I will certainly convey that

         4       insofar as it is not conveyed here and now, and I do

         5       believe that, for the most part, they do relate to the

         6       later period.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you.

         9

        10       MR EVANS:   Mr Commissioner, for the record, may I again

        11       announce my appearance.  My name is Evans.  I appear for

        12       Mr Officer pursuant to the authority you gave earlier.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Evans.

        15

        16       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, I would seek authority to

        17       appear for Nigel Edmonds-Wilson and Tim Snowball.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  That authority is

        20       granted on the usual terms.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I seek to interpose a witness,

        23       Nigel Charles Officer.  We have given an indication to my

        24       learned friend Mr Lacava, who appears for Mr Stott, that we

        25       are unlikely to require Mr Stott before 2pm, and I will be

        26       able to give an update on that during the course of the

        27       morning.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Yes.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   I call, then, Nigel Charles Officer.

        32

        33       <NIGEL CHARLES OFFICER, sworn:               [10.10am]

        34

        35       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Officer, your full name is Nigel

        38       Charles Officer?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   You provided a statutory declaration of 4 January

        42       2006, did you not?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   That is confidential exhibit 12, tendered in

        46       confidential session on 5 January 2006.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   I tender that statutory declaration as a public

         2       exhibit.

         3

         4       EXHIBIT #228 STATUTORY DECLARATION OF MR OFFICER,

         5       PREVIOUSLY CONFIDENTIAL EXHIBIT 12C, BARCODED

         6       WST.0003.0001-0007

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   The document tendered is a copy of the

         9       statutory declaration which we have edited to remove the

        10       witness's address.  I believe there are no other deletions

        11       from the document.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   It is at WST.0003.0001 through to 0007.

        16

        17       Q.   In addition, Mr Officer, you appeared before the

        18       inquiry in confidential session on Thursday, 5 January

        19       2006?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender the transcript of

        23       that examination, conducted before you on 5 January 2006,

        24       and I ask you, Mr Commissioner, to dissolve so much of the

        25       confidentiality order as would permit this transcript to be

        26       a public exhibit.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  The transcript of evidence of

        29       Mr Officer commencing at page 273, concluding at page 370,

        30       will be exhibit 229.  I dissolve any confidentiality order

        31       in relation to the contents of that transcript.

        32

        33       EXHIBIT #229 TRANSCRIPT OF EVIDENCE OF MR OFFICER,

        34       FROM PAGE 273-370

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   There are a number of exhibits which were

        37       tendered during the course of that examination and which

        38       were marked as confidential exhibits.  I will deal with

        39       those separately during the course of this further

        40       examination.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Officer, have you provided a further

        45       statutory declaration of 8 February 2006?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Would you look at this document.  Is that a copy of

         2       your more recent statutory declaration?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Are the contents of that statutory declaration true

         6       and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       EXHIBIT #230 SUPPLEMENTARY STATUTORY DECLARATION OF

        10       MR NIGEL OFFICER, DATED 8/2/2006, BARCODED WST.0007.0014

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   We have removed from that the address of

        13       Mr Officer, and so the copy that I tender is edited to that

        14       extent.  I do not believe that there are any other edits.

        15

        16       Q.   Mr Officer, to the extent to which that statutory

        17       declaration conflicts with your earlier statutory

        18       declaration, and with your earlier evidence in confidential

        19       session, is it your evidence that the version which this

        20       inquiry should accept is that which appears in your last

        21       statutory declaration of 8 February 2006?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   To the extent that there is any conflict between what

        25       you say in this second statutory declaration and your first

        26       statutory declaration and the evidence which you gave

        27       in January, do you say that you no longer rely upon the

        28       material in your first statutory declaration or the

        29       evidence that you gave in session in January as being

        30       accurate or reliable?

        31       A.   Correct.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   For the record, the edited copy of the second

        34       statutory declaration of 8 February 2006, entitled

        35       "Supplementary Statutory Declaration", is barcoded

        36       WST.0007.0014.

        37

        38       Q.   I will come to your first statutory declaration and

        39       the evidence you gave in January later.  I want to deal

        40       with your supplementary statutory declaration.  Do you have

        41       a copy of that in front of you?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   If I take you to page 4 of that statement, in

        45       paragraph 18, the fourth dot point, you say:

        46

        47            The actual role that DFAT played in this
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         1            process is unclear to me, but I believe

         2            that DFAT reviewed the contracts to ensure

         3            they complied with Australia's

         4            international obligations.  DFAT then

         5            passed those contracts on to the UN for

         6            review and approval.

         7

         8       What was your source of knowledge as to the role of DFAT as

         9       you have expressed it in this supplementary statutory

        10       declaration?

        11       A.   I learned of the role of DFAT in this context from the

        12       Middle East desk, particularly from Mark Emons - that was

        13       my understanding.

        14

        15       Q.   When you say "to ensure they complied with Australia's

        16       international obligations", did you understand from that

        17       that there was an equal obligation on the AWB to spell out

        18       in the documents provided to DFAT what the true contractual

        19       situation was between AWB and the IGB?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   We will come to this in more detail later in your

        23       statutory declaration, but it is the case that you became

        24       aware that the first three contracts dated July 1999

        25       contained a clause relating to the payment of a discharge

        26       cost up to US$12 per metric tonne?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Are you aware that, after October of 1999, no contract

        30       between the AWB and the IGB under the Oil-for-Food Program

        31       ever again identified a specific amount as payable on

        32       account of discharge costs or inland transport fee or

        33       trucking fee?

        34       A.   I'm aware as of the January 2000 contract that that

        35       was in fact the case.  After that, I had left the AWB,

        36       I think, when the next contracts were negotiated, so to

        37       that extent, yes, that's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you, yourself, ever inform anybody at DFAT as to

        40       what the full terms and conditions of the arrangements

        41       between the IGB and the AWB were --

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   -- insofar as they related to the payment of trucking

        45       fees --

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   -- or inland transport fees?

         2       A.   No.

         3

         4       Q.   Are you aware of any communication between the AWB and

         5       any officer of DFAT in which DFAT was told the detail of

         6       the true contractual arrangement as between the IGB and the

         7       AWB, other than what appeared on the face of the written

         8       contracts that were submitted to DFAT?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   You understand that, although I'm not putting time

        12       frames on these questions, my questions deal with that

        13       period of your employment up until the time that you left

        14       AWB --

        15       A.   I understand.

        16

        17       Q.   -- in mid 2000?

        18       A.   Correct.

        19

        20       Q.   You set out in paragraphs 19 onwards information

        21       concerning Ronly Holdings.  I do not propose to read the

        22       whole of your statement on to the record, it will be

        23       available as a public exhibit, but I do want to take you to

        24       the various documents that you refer to in the course of

        25       that statement.  You speak of Ronly in terms of the

        26       proposed joint venture between AWB and Ronly, and you say

        27       in paragraph 23 that you believe that by December 1999 the

        28       AWB board of directors resolved to enter into a joint

        29       venture agreement with Ronly.  Could we bring up, please,

        30       AWB.0156.0126.  Is that the document from which you draw

        31       that belief?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   I tender that, Mr Commissioner.

        35

        36       EXHIBIT #231 RESOLUTION TO ENTER INTO JOINT VENTURE

        37       AGREEMENT WITH RONLY, BARCODED AWB.0156.0126

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In relation to --

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, might we have the opportunity to

        42       look at that document before it all becomes a public

        43       exhibit?  I just note from that part of it on the screen

        44       that it does deal with issues concerning the listing of the

        45       company, and the like.  It may be that we make application

        46       that some of it be maintained as confidential.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I shall make a

         2       non-publication order in relation to AWB.0156.0126, which

         3       is exhibit 231, as an interim measure.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Thank you.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   I am content to limit the tender to all of that

         8       material under and relating to subparagraph (d) on that

         9       page, and we will prepare a copy of the page omitting the

        10       rest of the material.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   That would meet our concern.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You say in paragraph 24 that there are

        17       various emails to which you refer which deal with the steps

        18       that AWB considered in how to give effect to making the

        19       payments of the US$12 trucking fees, and that options that

        20       were considered included the making of payments through

        21       intermediaries, and you refer to Mark Emons' reference in

        22       his statement to Ronly.  You set out a reference to his

        23       statement at paragraphs 22 and 28 to 30, and you say that,

        24       although you do not recollect the conversations quoted by

        25       Mark Emons, you believe that what he said accurately states

        26       the position, and you have no reason to disbelieve what

        27       Mr Emons had said on that point.

        28

        29            In paragraph 22, to which you make reference, Mr Emons

        30       said that there were discussions about the means by which

        31       the payment could be undertaken, either during or shortly

        32       after his trip to Iraq in June 1999; the payments, their

        33       appearance and how they were to be described were discussed

        34       with a range of my colleagues - namely, Dominic Hogan,

        35       Michael Watson in chartering, Graham Owen in accounting,

        36       and the like.  I recall one idea that flowed from our joint

        37       sessions and group discussions.  He could not remember

        38       whose idea it was to have the vessel owners make the

        39       payment of the inland transportation fee of $12.  It was

        40       agreed that Ronly Holdings, a contact of his, could be used

        41       to effect such payments on behalf of AWB Limited.  This

        42       process lasted over a period of time.

        43

        44            Mr Officer, can you recall whose idea it was to have

        45       vessel owners make the payments of the inland

        46       transportation fee?

        47       A.   No.
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         1

         2       Q.   Can you recall the background as to how it came about

         3       that that idea was struck upon?  In other words, can you

         4       recall why it was that seemingly the most direct method of

         5       making the payments, which was for AWB simply to make the

         6       payments itself directly, seems to have been discounted in

         7       favour of having the vessel owners make the payments?

         8       What's the background to that?

         9       A.   The AWB did not want to make the payments direct.  It

        10       decided that the avenue through a third party was more

        11       appropriate, and a question then was which party or parties

        12       would be the best means for that payment to take place.

        13

        14       Q.   When you say "the AWB did not want to make the

        15       payments direct", which persons do you encompass within

        16       your description "the AWB"?

        17       A.   The management group, the marketing management group,

        18       and also - as these discussions, or the nature of the

        19       payments to Iraq had been discussed at higher levels, it

        20       was felt, from our discussions at a marketing level, that

        21       we should seek to make the payments through a third party.

        22

        23       Q.   The marketing group that you refer to, marketing

        24       management group, did that include Mr Emons and Mr Hogan?

        25       A.   Yes, it would.

        26

        27       Q.   And yourself?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Anybody else?

        31       A.   Mr Watson would have been involved in those

        32       discussions as well.

        33

        34       Q.   Then you say:

        35

        36            The nature of the payments to Iraq had been

        37            discussed at higher levels.

        38

        39       Who do you include within the description "higher levels"?

        40       A.   The chairman and the managing director.

        41

        42       Q.   At that time the chairman was Mr Flugge?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   The managing director was Mr Rogers?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Who had the discussions with Mr Flugge and Mr Rogers?

         2       A.   There were various discussions on this issue.  It was

         3       a significant change in the way that the AWB was

         4       contracting with an overseas buyer.  Those discussions were

         5       done on a more informal basis than on a formal basis, given

         6       the nature of the issue.  Discussions took place at the

         7       marketing desk and also in my office and also in the office

         8       of the chairman, as I best recall.

         9

        10       Q.   Were you party to discussions with both the chairman

        11       and the chief executive officer?

        12       A.   I recall being involved in discussions with the

        13       chairman.  My recollection of direct discussions on this

        14       issue with the managing director are not as vivid, but,

        15       given the responsibilities that he had and --

        16

        17       MR GREEN:   I object to this evidence.  I ask that the

        18       witness confine himself to the question and not go outside

        19       its terms.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow it.  Go on, please.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Your answer so far was, "I recall being

        24       involved in discussions with the chairman.  My recollection

        25       of direct discussions on this issue with the managing

        26       director are not as vivid, but, given the responsibilities

        27       that he had and"?

        28       A.   I'm just not sure of the nature of the objection, I'm

        29       sorry.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Don't you worry about the objection.

        32       You go on.

        33

        34       THE WITNESS:   Okay, righto.  Those discussions - well,

        35       given the nature of his responsibilities, and in the

        36       discharge of my duties as general manager, global sales and

        37       marketing, I would have discussed it with him, I believe.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you have formal authority without

        40       reference to Mr Rogers to agree to the payment of the

        41       transportation fee of US$12 through vessel owners?

        42       A.   I don't believe I would.  No.

        43

        44       Q.   Applying your mind to the way in which you approached

        45       your duty at AWB at that time, would you have taken it upon

        46       yourself to have agreed to the payment of the US$12 per

        47       tonne via vessel owners without reference to Mr Rogers?
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         1       A.   Via vessel owners, I perhaps would not have discussed

         2       that with Mr Rogers.  The issue of making the payment of

         3       $12 was something that I would not have done within the

         4       responsibilities that I had.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you believe that you did speak to Mr Rogers on the

         7       topic of making the payment of $12 per tonne?

         8       A.   As I mentioned before, this was a significant change

         9       for the organisation.  It was an area of some greyness, if

        10       I can use that word.  It wasn't something that was spoken

        11       about broadly across the organisation, but it was certainly

        12       something of such significance that I would have spoken

        13       about that with them - the managing director and the

        14       chairman.

        15

        16       Q.   What did you say to the chairman about the payment of

        17       the $12 a metric tonne?

        18       A.   Well, as I recall, to the best of my ability, this was

        19       an imposition that was placed upon us by the buyer, the

        20       Iraqi Grain Board.  There was no option.  There was no

        21       choice.  It was $12 or not, or if you don't make that

        22       payment then, of course, there would be no business.  That

        23       was made very clear.  It was in that context that

        24       I discussed it with the chairman, and that was the nature

        25       of those discussions.

        26

        27       Q.   Did you tell the chairman that the figure of $12 a

        28       metric tonne had been fixed by the Iraqis?

        29       A.   I would have done so, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   At the time that you had this conversation, or these

        32       conversations, with the chairman did you have a belief as

        33       to who would be the end recipient of the $12 a metric

        34       tonne - the Iraqis or any other entity?

        35       A.   That was not clear to me - the end recipient.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you believe that any of the $12 would pass through

        38       the hands of the Iraqis?

        39       A.   I believe at the outset that we took on face value the

        40       position that was put to us, that the $12 payment was for

        41       trucking fees or inland transport costs.  However, it was

        42       always unclear as to whether or not all or, indeed, only

        43       part of that payment was actually going to be used for the

        44       trucking fees.

        45

        46       Q.   To the extent to which you thought about it and had a

        47       view, did you believe that, regardless of whether the
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         1       money, the $12 a metric tonne, was going to be expended in

         2       part or whole on trucking fees, that money was going to the

         3       Iraqis as opposed to some other entity?

         4       A.   That, to me personally, was not clear at the outset.

         5

         6       Q.   Even though it wasn't clear, you nevertheless

         7       ultimately agreed to sign these contracts - I don't mean

         8       you personally, but that AWB should enter these contracts?

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   And when I say "these contracts", I'm speaking of the

        12       first three contracts that were entered in July of 1999?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   So is it accurate to say, then, that at the time that

        16       AWB entered those contracts on what I believe was 14 July

        17       1999, your state of mind was that the $12 fee was something

        18       imposed by the Iraqis as a condition of entering the

        19       contracts?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   And that if you didn't pay the $12 a metric tonne

        23       there would be no contract with the Iraqis?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you say that at that time you had a belief that at

        27       least part of that $12 a metric tonne would be used to pay

        28       for trucking?

        29       A.   If not all.

        30

        31       Q.   If not all?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   But you were unclear as to whether that $12, or any

        35       component of it, would actually find its way to the Iraqis

        36       themselves?

        37       A.   Correct.

        38

        39       Q.   And when you say it was a grey area, was one source of

        40       that greyness the UN sanctions?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   You were aware, were you, that the UN sanctions that

        44       applied at that time prohibited the making of any payments

        45       in foreign currencies to the Iraqis?

        46       A.   I understood that.

        47
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         1       Q.   When you spoke to the chairman, did you speak to him

         2       on the topic of your doubts about where the whole of this

         3       $12 fee might go, and whether or not it might be a breach

         4       of the UN sanctions?

         5       A.   I don't recollect specifically, but I would imagine

         6       that that was the case.

         7

         8       Q.   Why do you say you imagine that was the case?

         9       A.   Well, it was central to the decision to make payments

        10       through a third party.

        11

        12       Q.   Was it any part of your mindset to keep secret from

        13       the chairman your doubts concerning the payment of this $12

        14       fee?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Was it any part of your mindset to keep secret from

        18       the managing director your doubts?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       Q.   Was there any element of subterfuge in the way in

        22       which you dealt with either the chairman or the managing

        23       director on the issue of the payment of this $12 fee?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   Indeed, as between you and those who you have named -

        27       Mr Emons, Mr Hogan and Mr Watson, the chairman and the

        28       managing director - did you have in mind that any of you

        29       were keeping secret from each other any aspects of this?

        30       A.   No, never.

        31

        32       Q.   It is not a matter, though, that was broadcast

        33       throughout the whole of the AWB?

        34       A.   That's right.

        35

        36       Q.   And was that a deliberate decision?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Who made that decision?

        40       A.   Well, that was a general understanding between those

        41       that were discussing the matter.  Our business is - the

        42       business that we operated in was one where market

        43       intelligence was very important, and so it wasn't something

        44       that would be, you know, sung from the rafters, no.

        45

        46       Q.   What did the chairman say to you when you told him

        47       about this matter?
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         1       A.   He would have said that this was a necessary part of

         2       doing business with Iraq and that the role that we had at

         3       AWB was to maximize opportunities and sales returns for the

         4       commodities that we were dealing with, and that we should

         5       proceed.

         6

         7       Q.   When you say "he would have said", is that your

         8       recollection of the substance of what he said, or is that

         9       something that you have supposed he said?

        10       A.   That is the recollection of the substance of what he

        11       would have said - of what he said.

        12

        13       Q.   On the topic of not making the payments directly but

        14       using Ronly Holdings, you said in relation to the managing

        15       director that you may not have spoken to him on that aspect

        16       of what was proposed, which involved the use of third

        17       parties such as Ronly Holdings or vessel owners to make the

        18       payment.

        19       A.   I may not have spoken to him.

        20

        21       Q.   That's what I'm asking.

        22       A.   I may not have spoken with him.

        23

        24       Q.   Did you regard it as within your authority to use

        25       vessel owners to make the payment once a decision had been

        26       made by others that the payment should be made?

        27       A.   No.  Can I just go back a little bit?  I said I may

        28       not have spoken with the managing director.  I think it is

        29       in all likelihood that I would have spoken with him, but

        30       certainly the decision, once it had been taken, to make the

        31       payment through a third party - in this case you referred

        32       to a shipping company - then that would have been a

        33       decision that I would have approved, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you speak to the chairman about the plan to make

        36       payments of the $12 per metric tonne through vessel owners?

        37       A.   I believe so.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you speak to the chairman about the plan to make

        40       payment of the US$12 through Ronly Holdings?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   Did you tell him - that is, the chairman - why it was

        44       that it was being considered that Ronly Holdings should be

        45       used as a conduit for the payment?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   What did you say to him in relation to that?

         2       A.   As I have explained, the greyness of the matter, the

         3       significance of it in terms of its newness in the way that

         4       the AWB contracted business, the fact that there were some

         5       grey areas with respect to the United Nations.  I spoke

         6       with him about the need to perhaps distance AWB from making

         7       those payments on a direct basis.

         8

         9       Q.   What was his response when you spoke to him about

        10       that?

        11       A.   Well, his response - again, it is very difficult to

        12       recall specifically the exact words of it, of a

        13       conversation so long ago, but his response would have been

        14       along the lines that, "We are in the business of maximising

        15       opportunities and sales returns" and that we shouldn't

        16       jeopardise our business with Iraq.  It was an environment

        17       in which Iraq, we believed, had imposed various fees, or

        18       inland transport costs, depending on the point of origin,

        19       for all suppliers, not just AWB.

        20

        21       Q.   Did he say anything about the appropriateness or

        22       otherwise of using vessel owners or Ronly Holdings as a

        23       conduit for the payment?

        24       A.   I don't recall any comments with respect to that.

        25

        26       Q.   Did he say anything which was contrary to the proposal

        27       to use vessel owners or Ronly Holdings as a conduit for the

        28       payment?

        29       A.   No.

        30

        31       Q.   When a decision was made to go ahead with that

        32       decision to use vessel owners and Ronly Holdings as

        33       conduits for the payments, did you inform the chairman that

        34       that was what was happening?

        35       A.   I or Mark Emons would have certainly informed him of

        36       that, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you have any conversations with the chairman that

        39       gave you to believe that he knew that that was the

        40       arrangement?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   What about with the managing director?  Did you inform

        44       the managing director that the vessel owners and Ronly

        45       Holdings were being used as a conduit for the payment of

        46       the $12?

        47       A.   I believe I would have, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you have any conversations with the managing

         3       director that gave you to believe that he was aware that

         4       vessel owners and Ronly Holdings were being used as a

         5       conduit for the payment?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you have any conversations with the managing

         9       director that gave you to believe that one of the reasons

        10       why vessel owners and Ronly Holdings were being used as a

        11       conduit for the payment was to distance AWB from the

        12       payment?

        13       A.   Yes, I believe so.

        14

        15       Q.   Mr Officer, when you spoke to the chairman about this,

        16       did you tell him that, as part of the proposal to use Ronly

        17       Holdings as a conduit for the payment, Ronly Holdings would

        18       be paid a small commission or a 20 cent per tonne

        19       commission for the task?

        20       A.   I don't recall specifically discussing that point.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you ever say words to that effect to the managing

        23       director, to the best of your recollection?

        24       A.   I don't recall.

        25

        26       Q.   Was it within your authority to agree to pay a

        27       commission of that nature to Ronly in return for its

        28       service as a conduit for the payment?

        29       A.   I'm not sure.  I'm not sure.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you know whether vessel owners - leaving aside

        32       Ronly - were also paid some form of commission or fee for

        33       undertaking the responsibility for making the $12 a tonne

        34       payment?

        35       A.   I'm not aware of that, but I have - well, I am aware

        36       of it from what I have read in various transcripts, but at

        37       the time, to the best of my recollection, I don't - I was

        38       not aware that there was a commission being paid to the

        39       owner for making the payment through him.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Officer, as I understand it

        42       from a draft corporate structure chart, which is exhibit 4,

        43       there was superior in the organisation to you in 1999,

        44       apart from the chairman and chief executive officer, to

        45       whom you have referred, only Messrs Tighe, Goodacre and

        46       Joanne Martin; is that right?

        47       A.   It is not absolutely correct.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can we put up exhibit 4?

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I have the barcode, if that's of any

         5       assistance.  It is EXH.0001.0030.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   This is the document we have been

         8       given by the solicitors for AWB.  It may not be complete.

         9       Can you see it there?

        10       A.   Yes, I can.

        11

        12       Q.   It shows the chief operations officer as Mr Tighe; the

        13       general manager, national acquisition, as Mr Goodacre; and

        14       the general manager, corporate affairs, as Ms Martin.  Did

        15       you discuss any of the matters Mr Agius has been talking

        16       about with any of those three people?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Which of those?

        20       A.   Well, Michael Tighe was my immediate superior.

        21       I recall discussing it with him and I recall also

        22       Mark Emons - discussing the matter with him as well.

        23       Joanne Martin was involved in our government relations

        24       business as well, and she was aware of the nature of the -

        25       or the imposition of the $12 payment, transportation fee,

        26       and I believe she was also aware, from discussions with

        27       particularly Mark Emons, but also myself, of the route by

        28       which that payment would be effected.  Tim Goodacre was a

        29       member of the executive management team and he would have

        30       been aware of those sorts of issues.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you have regular executive management meetings at

        33       that time?

        34       A.   Yes.  They were regular.  Every Monday morning there

        35       was an informal around the table meeting, and then each

        36       month there was a meeting which had an agenda and minutes

        37       were taken.

        38

        39       Q.   Do you recall if the matters about which Mr Agius has

        40       been asking you were discussed at those executive

        41       management meetings?

        42       A.   I don't recall the issue being discussed specifically.

        43       I'm not aware of any minutes or any agenda item with

        44       respect to that particular matter.  The reason, I guess,

        45       was because there were - because of the sensitivity of the

        46       matter, but there was certainly sufficient discussion

        47       informally between members of the executive management team
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         1       about this matter.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you say "discussion informally", what

         4       are you referring to?

         5       A.   Well, there were a number of areas that were involved.

         6       The pool was involved, naturally, because of it being a

         7       supply source for the grain; the finance division, for

         8       reasons that it was responsible for making the payments.

         9       So these things could not have occurred in isolation of

        10       some of the other key parts of the organisation.  Marketing

        11       was one part responsible for the negotiation, and, if you

        12       like, the execution of arrangements under the contracts,

        13       but it necessarily involved other parts of the business.

        14

        15       Q.   Do you mean, then, that either you or Mr Emons, or

        16       others, went to various people in these sections and

        17       privately discussed with them the proposal --

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   -- to pay the money through the vessel owners?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   And discussed with them why it was that this was being

        24       done?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Because of concerns and because of a wish to distance

        28       AWB from the payments?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   When I use the word "discuss", I was picking up on

        32       your word, but I take it when these things were raised with

        33       the other departments they were raised as matters for

        34       discussion; they weren't simply put to the other

        35       departments as a fait accompli?

        36       A.   We operated in a very open environment.  People had

        37       the opportunity to express their views so it was never put

        38       as a fait accompli, no.

        39

        40       Q.   May I take it that if you took part in these

        41       discussions, there was nothing in the way in which you

        42       conducted any such discussion which would have given

        43       anybody else in AWB the impression that they shouldn't

        44       independently go and speak to the managing director or the

        45       chairman about it?

        46       A.   That's correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   Can you recall the names of any persons with whom you

         2       had spoken from the pool about these matters?  For example,

         3       can you recall whether or not you spoke to either Mr Geary

         4       or Ms Scales?

         5       A.   To be frank, most of the discussions on this issue

         6       would have taken place between Mark Emons and those other

         7       people.  I certainly would have had discussions with Ted

         8       Laskie, as the general manager.  He was a peer-level member

         9       of staff.  Most of the discussions would have centred

        10       around Mark Emons and possibly Dominic Hogan, and people in

        11       the other areas - Peter Geary, Sarah Scales, these sorts of

        12       people.

        13

        14       Q.   Those people - Mark Emons and Mr Hogan - were more the

        15       facilitators?

        16       A.   Well, they were managing that account.  It was an

        17       important account.  Yes, they were certainly the key

        18       operatives, if you like, for managing that Iraq business.

        19

        20       Q.   Whereas your role was to deal with management either

        21       at your level or above, their role was to deal with the

        22       practical setting up of the mechanism?

        23       A.   That's right, but, given the nature of the issue,

        24       naturally I was kept informed of what was going on, but at

        25       a day-to-day level I certainly wasn't involved in the ins

        26       and outs of the contract itself.

        27

        28       Q.   I just want to move through a number of documents that

        29       you referred to --

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Just before you go on, did you have

        32       any discussions with Mr McConville, who was the government

        33       relations manager?

        34       A.   I don't recall specifically, but I know from what

        35       others have said in the inquiry that he was aware of it.

        36       I don't recall specifically discussing it with him, no.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   There are a number of exhibits, and I just want

        39       to catch up with the chronology, or documents that you

        40       refer to in paragraphs 25 through to 34.  Can I tender the

        41       document referred to in paragraph 26, the email from

        42       Mark Emons to Mr Officer and others, AWB.5068.0368.

        43

        44       EXHIBIT #232 EMAIL FROM MARK EMONS TO MR OFFICER AND

        45       OTHERS, BARCODED AWB.5068.0368

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Could I tender the document referred to in
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         1       paragraph 27, AWB.0135.0109.

         2

         3       EXHIBIT #233 DOCUMENT REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 27 OF

         4       MR OFFICER'S SUPPLEMENTARY STATUTORY DECLARATION

         5       DATED 8/2/2006, BARCODED AWB.0135.0109

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Could I tender the documents referred to in the

         8       next paragraph, AWB.0135.0157 and 0156.

         9

        10       EXHIBIT #234 DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 28 OF

        11       MR OFFICER'S SUPPLEMENTARY STATUTORY DECLARATION

        12       DATED 8/2/2006, BARCODED AWB.0135.0156-0157

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Those two documents deal with Iraq demurrage

        15       claims.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, not having these documents in

        18       front of us, I am concerned to ensure that whatever is

        19       confidential is protected.  I wonder if my friend, or

        20       junior counsel assisting, could have a copy given to us and

        21       very quickly we can identify what, if anything, we would

        22       seek to have protected.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Is there anything likely to be

        25       confidential?

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   No, I don't believe so, but we have no

        28       difficulty with my learned friend, or my learned friend's

        29       junior, having a look at these to ensure that we've not

        30       missed anything.  There is no reference to the names of

        31       ships or to tonnages.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   I was really concerned with board reports, and

        34       the like.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I shall make a non-publication

        37       order at this stage in relation to exhibit 234.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   May I tender as well AWB.0135.0158 and the

        40       accompanying memo to AWB Limited board members,

        41       AWB.0135.0159.

        42

        43       EXHIBIT #235 DOCUMENT BARCODED AWB.0135.0158 AND

        44       ACCOMPANYING MEMO TO AWB LIMITED BOARD MEMBERS,

        45       BARCODED AWB.0135.0159

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall make the same order of
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         1       confidentiality until Mr Judd has had a chance to look at

         2       it.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I tender the document referred to in

         5       paragraph 29, barcoded AWB.0173.0303, which is a series of

         6       emails involving this witness.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #236 DOCUMENT REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 29 OF

         9       MR OFFICER'S SUPPLEMENTARY STATUTORY DECLARATION

        10       DATED 8/2/2006 STATEMENT, BARCODED AWB.0173.0303

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   I tender the first document referred to in

        13       paragraph 30, barcoded AWB.0135.0127, which is a report

        14       from Mr Snowball to a number of persons concerning his

        15       meeting with the UN treasurer, Suzanne Bishopric.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #237 REPORT FROM MR SNOWBALL TO A NUMBER OF PERSONS

        18       CONCERNING MR SNOWBALL'S MEETING WITH THE UN TREASURER,

        19       SUZANNE BISHOPRIC, BARCODED AWB.0135.0127

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   I tender the documents AWB.5036.0219-0220

        22       referred to at the end of paragraph 30.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #238 EMAIL DATED 25/5/1999 FROM MARK EMONS TO

        25       TIM SNOWBALL, BARCODED AWB.5036.0219-0220

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I have had an opportunity to look

        28       at those documents and we don't press for any confidential

        29       claim in relation to them - that is, exhibits 235, 236, 237

        30       and 238.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  I remove the

        33       confidentiality order in relation to exhibits 235, 236, 237

        34       and 238.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   I tender the documents referred to in

        37       paragraph 34, being AWB.5073.0078.

        38

        39       EXHIBIT #239 DOCUMENT REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 34 OF

        40       MR OFFICER'S STATUTORY DECLARATION DATED 8/2/2006,

        41       BARCODED AWB.5073.0078

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I want to bring you to paragraph 35 of

        44       your statement, Mr Officer, in which you refer to a trip

        45       report which you received from Mr Hogan dated 24 June 1999.

        46       We have this as confidential exhibits 14 and 45.  Could we

        47       bring up, please, AWB.5073.0125, at page 0126.  This email
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         1       was addressed to Messrs Emons, Hunter, yourself, Geary,

         2       Richardson, Snowball, Hart, Morison, Watson, Lister, Owen

         3       and Ms Scales.  It includes the reference on 0126 to "free

         4       in truck".  This portion of the confidential exhibit has

         5       previously been read on to the record, but so that we are

         6       sure what we are dealing with, under the heading "1.  Free

         7       in truck" there is recorded the following:

         8

         9            IGB have requested that the offers are

        10            submitted CIF, free in truck, Iraq.  The

        11            cost for this is USD12.00 per tonne which

        12            the supplier adds to their offer.

        13            Hence this part is not an issue.

        14

        15       By that, Mr Officer, when you received this email, did you

        16       understand that the US$12 a tonne being added into the

        17       contract price was not an issue because that US$12 would

        18       ultimately be obtained from the escrow account?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Mr Hogan goes on:

        22

        23            The problem which still needs to be

        24            resolved is the payment mechanism as all

        25            Iraq accounts have been frozen.  IGB have

        26            stated that we will be required to pay the

        27            Maritime Agents, and one possible way would

        28            be to pay this to an Iraq bank in Amman.

        29            IGB will provide details of the banks which

        30            we can pay this through.

        31

        32       Now, did that not mean to you that the IGB were in control

        33       of to whom it was that the payment was to be made?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Did that statement not squarely raise the probability

        37       that the payments were in fact going to be made for the

        38       benefit of the IGB, or at least the Iraqis?

        39       A.   Yes, for the provision of whatever services were

        40       required.

        41

        42       Q.   Then Mr Hogan went on:

        43

        44            Michael - as mentioned to you, there may be

        45            a way to pay this through the vessel

        46            owners.  Mark will discuss this [with] you,

        47            so have a think about the possibilities.
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         1

         2       Then Mr Hogan goes on to offer the reason that the IGB had

         3       offered for wanting the suppliers to pay this amount of

         4       money.  That reason itself would seem to indicate that the

         5       IGB had in mind that the money, the US dollars, would come

         6       to the Iraqis, would it not?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   May we take it, then, that, following this email, you

        10       were well and truly aware that the problem was the finding

        11       of a mechanism for the payment, and that your officers, AWB

        12       officers, were engaged in solving that problem?

        13       A.   Correct.

        14

        15       Q.   And, indeed, you had discussions, which you have

        16       referred to, in relation to that very problem?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   In paragraph 36 you refer to an email that you

        20       received from Tim Snowball, which is AWB.5054.0278.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   I tender that document.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #240 EMAIL TO MR OFFICER FROM TIM SNOWBALL,

        25       BARCODED AWB.5054.0278

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You refer in paragraph 38 to what we have

        28       as exhibit 99, which was part of confidential exhibit 1C,

        29       MAE.0002.0037.  Could we bring that up, please.  This email

        30       from Mr Watson raises other problems associated with the

        31       new contract terms.  The first was his concern that CIF to

        32       trucks meant that the AWB was now also insuring cargo once

        33       unloaded from the vessel from ship to truck, and therefore

        34       the liability did not cease upon passing the rail.  The

        35       second was not an unrelated problem regarding possibility

        36       of shortages as there might be loss as the grain was moved

        37       from ship to truck.  Do you know how those problems were

        38       resolved?

        39       A.   No, I don't.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you become aware of an understanding at AWB that,

        42       although the contract referred to free into truck to all

        43       governorates of Iraq, the understanding between the AWB and

        44       the IGB was that the AWB did not in fact have

        45       responsibility for the grain once it passed the ship's

        46       rail?

        47       A.   That's correct.  And therefore, I guess, adding to my
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         1       answer to your previous question, the matter potentially

         2       did not need to be resolved - ie, insurance and shortage.

         3

         4       Q.   That's the point of my question in relation to this

         5       email:  these problems that were raised by Mr Watson would

         6       have been, would they not, serious considerations if the

         7       true agreement between AWB and the IGB was that AWB was

         8       responsible for the delivery of the grain to all

         9       governorates in Iraq?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   There would have been significant insurance

        13       difficulties; is that right?

        14       A.   Absolutely.

        15

        16       Q.   Not to mention difficulties to do with loss of

        17       quantities of the grain from Umm Qasr as it found its way

        18       to all governorates in Iraq?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   But those problems in fact were never resolved by the

        22       AWB, because they never had to be?

        23       A.   To my knowledge, that's the case.

        24

        25       Q.   Mr Officer, perhaps the point has already been made,

        26       but I want your view in relation to it:  does that not mean

        27       that the written contract that was sent to the UN via DFAT

        28       did not in fact disclose the true contractual relationship

        29       between the IGB and the AWB, at least in that respect?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Can you explain why it was that the contracts, the

        33       written documents, that were passed through DFAT to the UN

        34       in fact never disclosed that the real arrangement between

        35       the AWB and the IGB did not involve the AWB in having any

        36       responsibility for the grain after discharge?

        37       A.   I believe, as I have stated before, it was an area of

        38       uncertainty or greyness and, as a result, the true nature

        39       of the contractual obligations of AWB were not revealed to

        40       DFAT and/or UN.

        41

        42       Q.   As a matter of deliberate decision?

        43       A.   Not necessarily as a matter of deliberate decision,

        44       but it was certainly not a deliberate decision to advise

        45       them.

        46

        47       Q.   I am sorry, it was a deliberate decision not to advise
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         1       them; is that what you mean?

         2       A.   No, it was perhaps a deliberate decision - let me get

         3       this right.  It was perhaps a - it was not a deliberate

         4       decision not to advise them.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Just to leave them uninformed?

         7       A.   Correct.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   That was the decision that was taken?

        10       A.   That was the decision, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Whose decision?

        13       A.   That was a collective corporate decision.

        14

        15       Q.   At AWB?

        16       A.   At AWB.

        17

        18       Q.   In the belief that, had the UN been advised, the

        19       contracts would not have been approved?

        20       A.   There was no guarantee that the contracts would have

        21       been approved.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   And thus the business would have

        24       been lost?

        25       A.   Correct.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you say it was a corporate decision,

        28       can you be more precise?

        29       A.   Well, as I have explained previously, the

        30       organisation, up through the levels and across levels, was

        31       aware of the nature of the imposition of the inland

        32       transport fees and there was a general understanding of the

        33       mechanism that would be sought, or the distancing of making

        34       that payment by the AWB was generally understood.  The

        35       nature of the business was such that the organisation as a

        36       whole knew that there was some doubt as to whether the UN

        37       would approve the contracts, and so the people at the

        38       operational level, in seeking approval for those contracts,

        39       would have decided that it was best not to outline or

        40       detail exactly what the nature of those contractual

        41       obligations may have been.  I don't think it needed to be

        42       caucused extensively.  I think there was a general

        43       understanding at the operational level as to what or was

        44       not might be required.

        45

        46       Q.   In paragraph 39 you refer to an email that you

        47       received from Mr Hogan.  Can we bring up AWB.5073.0129.
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         1       This is confidential exhibits 15 and 46.  You will see it

         2       is an email from 25 June 1999.  The relevant portion, which

         3       has been read on to the public record, is at page 0130.

         4       You will see under the heading "Item 10" Mr Hogan has

         5       written:

         6

         7            Our price has to include Land transport

         8            costs of USD12 per tonne.  Why???  And how

         9            do we pay Land Transport company when all

        10            Iraqi funds frozen????????

        11            The USD12.00 will be added on to CIF

        12            price - so no skin off our nose - however

        13            we need to find a way to implement the

        14            payments as Iraq a/c's frozen.  Discretion

        15            is required here.

        16

        17       This seems to be an echoing of the earlier email,

        18       Mr Officer?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And it seems that at this time the problem, as he

        22       described it in the earlier email, had not been solved?

        23       A.   Correct.

        24

        25       Q.   It is also a recognition, given the large number of

        26       people to whom this email was sent, that there was a

        27       recognition at AWB that this was a matter which needed to

        28       be handled delicately?

        29       A.   Absolutely.

        30

        31       Q.   And so you would not have been surprised to read

        32       Mr Hogan's statement "discretion is required here"?

        33       A.   No surprise at all.

        34

        35       Q.   I brought this up because I wanted to ask you about

        36       your view as to the prevailing corporate culture at that

        37       time.  Here we have Mr Hogan sending two emails which raise

        38       almost in the same terms this difficult problem, which he

        39       describes as a problem, and which he draws attention to by

        40       exhorting all to exercise discretion.  The emails are sent

        41       to a very large number of persons within AWB, including

        42       Mr Snowball, who is the AWB person in New York.  Do you

        43       agree with that?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   He had prime responsibility for liaising with the UN

        47       in New York or the Australian Mission to the UN in New
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         1       York?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   What is your frank opinion about what those factors

         5       say concerning the culture at AWB as it was at that time -

         6       and when I am referring to culture, I'm referring to those

         7       aspects of the corporate culture that dealt with perhaps an

         8       ethical responsibility to comply with sanctions or rules on

         9       the one hand, and, on the other hand, a desire to achieve a

        10       benefit for the Australian grower.

        11       A.   A very difficult balancing act, I guess, in terms of

        12       the cultural context.  The context - the cultural

        13       environment was commercial; it was one of obviously

        14       attending to the requirements of managing or marketing a

        15       large crop, serving our shareholders or stakeholders to the

        16       best of our ability, mindful of the legalities of the

        17       environments in which we did business, but, at the end of

        18       the day, if there were grey areas, it was perhaps left

        19       grey, so that sometimes the answers that you might not like

        20       to hear weren't heard.  So the ultimate overriding culture

        21       was certainly one of maximising opportunities for business

        22       and reaping the highest returns for those transactions.

        23

        24            You would be aware that AWB markets to a range, or did

        25       market to a range, of countries that perhaps don't

        26       necessarily follow the same moral and ethical business

        27       practices that we do here in Australia, a difficult

        28       environment in which to work for a marketer of such large

        29       volumes to those sorts of environments.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you think - and what is your frank view of this -

        32       any of the people with whom you dealt at AWB at this time

        33       ever turned their mind to what might happen to this money

        34       if it fell into the Iraqis' hands at this stage, beyond it

        35       being used for trucking fees?

        36       A.   I'm sure they did.  If I could just add to that,

        37       I think also, in the context of what we were advised that

        38       the $12 would be used for, it was not an unreasonable

        39       amount for that service - long distances, transporting

        40       grain.  I don't use that as any defence, but certainly, in

        41       a contextual environment, perhaps that does add some

        42       flavour.

        43

        44       Q.   Of course, at the time you left I think the trucking

        45       fees were no higher than a figure within the vicinity of

        46       $12.  I can't be precise as to whether they had reached $14

        47       at that time or $15.  I think they were perhaps still $12.
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         1       Within six or eight months of your leaving they had reached

         2       figures above $40 - indeed, $45 - and within not a very

         3       long time after that figures in excess of that.  If we take

         4       a figure of, say, $45 a metric tonne - would that have been

         5       the figure in July 1999, rather than $12 a metric

         6       tonne - do you think considerations might have been

         7       different?

         8       A.   I think you are speculating.  I think really that's

         9       purely what it is, speculation.  I don't know what I would

        10       have thought.

        11

        12       Q.   It is just that you said that $12 was not considered

        13       to be an unreasonable amount for the trucking service.

        14       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        15

        16       Q.   Taking that and measuring it against what happened

        17       within six months of your leaving, would US$45 have been

        18       considered an unreasonable amount for trucking services

        19       in June/July 1999?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   The witness has already indicated his view, a

        22       response of speculation.  In our submission, he shouldn't

        23       be reasked to speculate.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will reject the question.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.

        28

        29       Q.   At paragraph 41 you refer to two documents,

        30       AWB.0058.0446, being a written offer for the sale of

        31       700,000 tonnes of wheat - that is part of confidential

        32       exhibit 1, as is the telexed copy of the written offer,

        33       AWB.0058.0444.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I would ask that they be marked jointly as a

        36       separate confidential exhibit, Mr Commissioner, because

        37       confidential exhibit 1 was a large folder of documents.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Those two documents will be

        40       confidential exhibit 120C.

        41

        42       EXHIBIT #120C WRITTEN OFFER FOR SALE OF 700,000 TONNES OF

        43       WHEAT, FORMERLY PART OF CONFIDENTIAL EXHIBIT 1C, BARCODED

        44       AWB.0058.0446, AND TELEXED COPY OF WRITTEN OFFER, ALSO

        45       FORMERLY PART OF EXHIBIT 1, BARCODED AWB.0058.0444

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You refer in paragraph 47 to having
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         1       received an email from Mr Emons on various matters relating

         2       to the Middle East for the purposes of a CEO's report.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I will tender AWB.5053.0165.  I would ask my

         5       friend to look at that.  The information in it, although it

         6       is intelligence, appears to be very old and in the same

         7       category as AWB.5056.0360 and 0361.  Can they be marked as

         8       an exhibit and I invite my learned friend's consideration

         9       of them.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I shall mark those three

        12       documents as exhibit 241, and I shall make a

        13       confidentiality order until Mr Judd has had a chance to

        14       look at them.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #241 EMAIL FROM MR EMONS TO MS WILSON,

        17       BARCODED AWB.5053.0165, TOGETHER WITH DOCUMENTS

        18       BARCODED AWB.5056.0360-0361

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   You refer to an extract from the chief

        21       financial officer's report of 31 July 1999, and I will

        22       tender that report, or a portion of that report, at AWB

        23       .0156.0098 through to 0100.  That should be marked as a

        24       confidential exhibit, save for one portion of it.  I am

        25       reminded that that is already a confidential exhibit,

        26       number 52C.  Perhaps all that needs to be done is simply to

        27       have that noted.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I draw your attention to the document

        32       referred to in paragraph 51 of your supplementary statutory

        33       declaration.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.5056.0374.

        34       This is an email from Mr Emons to you, copied to others,

        35       including Messrs Lister and Owen, of 20 October 1999.  It

        36       is marked "Private and Confidential", and it relates to the

        37       trucking fee.  By this stage, the three July contracts had

        38       been entered; there was a shipment envisaged and the AWB

        39       had requested a letter of credit; and the question of the

        40       method of payment of the trucking cost back to the IGB was

        41       raised.  Mr Officer, it seems clear from the first

        42       paragraph of this email that at least Mr Emons viewed this

        43       payment as a payment to the IGB?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Would it be fair to say that, as at 20 October 1999,

        47       that was also your view?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   The second-last paragraph speaks in plain terms of

         4       removing any potential criticism potentially of AWB, or

         5       longer term considerations relating to facilitation

         6       payments as previously discussed.  What were the longer

         7       term considerations relating to facilitation payments as

         8       previously discussed to which Mr Emons was making a

         9       reference?

        10       A.   I had attended a breakfast seminar at Freehills, a law

        11       firm in Melbourne, at which time there was a presentation

        12       on the imminent, if you like, promulgation of new

        13       legislation with respect to the corruption of foreign

        14       government officials by Australia, it was an OECD piece of

        15       legislation.  I spoke about that with Mark Emons.  He was

        16       originally scheduled to attend that breakfast seminar, but

        17       didn't attend, for whatever reason.  I briefed him and my

        18       other managers when I returned to the office - I think the

        19       meeting was on 28 September 1999.  We took that - that was

        20       the first that the organisation had become aware of that

        21       proposed legislation.  We took it extremely seriously, and

        22       it is in that context, I believe, that Mark Emons has made

        23       that reference to "longer term considerations relating to

        24       facilitation payments as previously discussed".

        25

        26       Q.   So you referred to your attendance at seminars in

        27       paragraph 49.  Did you have a view, when you returned from

        28       attending the seminars on corruption on 28 September 1999,

        29       that the payment of what I will call the Iraq trucking fee

        30       might be caught by the impending legislation?

        31       A.   Frankly, from a personal point of view, no.  My

        32       perhaps - maybe perhaps in hindsight, naively, I believed

        33       on face value what we were being told, that the $12 was for

        34       inland transport costs.  Despite the lack of certainty

        35       about the application of the $12 in total, in totality to

        36       that service, I did not believe at the time that the

        37       payments of the $12 were in fact, you know, part of this

        38       whole facilitation payment legislation.

        39

        40       Q.   You had a different view in relation to Pakistan?

        41       A.   Oh, clearly.

        42

        43       Q.   I want to come to that a little later.  In relation to

        44       the view which you had concerning the Iraq trucking fee,

        45       did you seek confirmation of your view from anybody within

        46       legal or the legal department of AWB?

        47       A.   Not that I recall, no.
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         1

         2       Q.   Or from anybody else?

         3       A.   We did have a series of discussions with Freehills.

         4       I recall on at least one other occasion talking with

         5       Freehills.  Whether we spoke about Iraq specifically,

         6       I don't know.  I suspect we probably didn't.  It was

         7       certainly something that we weren't, you know, singing from

         8       the rafters about, you know, put it that way.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Emons was directing your

        11       attention to a methodology of hiding this payment, the

        12       trucking fee payment?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And he seems to be directing your

        16       attention to that in connection with previous discussions

        17       concerning longer term considerations relating to

        18       facilitation payments.  Did you speak with Mr Emons about

        19       it and give him any comfort as to your view that the

        20       payments of the trucking fee were not in breach of this new

        21       legislation or were to be seen as distinct from

        22       facilitation payments?

        23       A.   No.

        24

        25       Q.   It seems that the plan to use an amended charter party

        26       to include trucking fees was some kind of insurance lest

        27       not only there be criticism of the AWB, but lest there also

        28       be problems concerning or relating to facilitation

        29       payments?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Was that your view as well?

        33       A.   To some extent I believe it was.  The primary concern

        34       was - the focus, if you like, of my concern was more to do

        35       with arrangements through the UN, rather than the focus on

        36       the facilitation legislation, if I can call it that.

        37

        38       Q.   When you say "more to do with arrangements through the

        39       UN", your focus was more concerned on finding a way to make

        40       the payments which would not jeopardise the contracts or

        41       the arrangements that you had had with the IGB?

        42       A.   Absolutely correct.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that a convenient time for a short

        45       adjournment, Mr Agius?

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Yes.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will adjourn for 10 minutes.

         3

         4       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, my record is that this

         7       document is only a confidential exhibit; I don't have it as

         8       a public exhibit.  Might I tender that last email as a

         9       public exhibit?

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   0156.0098 - paragraph 48?

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   No, AWB.5056.0374.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be exhibit 242.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #242 DOCUMENT BARCODED AWB.5056.0374

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   My learned friend has indicated in relation to

        20       exhibit 241 that that may be marked as a public exhibit and

        21       he bears no objection to publication.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I remove the

        24       confidentiality order in respect of exhibit 241.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   There was still consternation, was there

        27       not, within some portions of AWB as to how effective the

        28       proposed mechanism might be in making the payment to the

        29       IGB.  You refer in paragraph 51 to an email from Graham

        30       Owen to Mark Emons and yourself and others.  Could we bring

        31       up AWB.5056.0157.  This is an email from Graham Owen to

        32       Mr Emons, copied to yourself and others, including

        33       Mr Lister, raising Mr Owen's concerns and suggestions as to

        34       how the matter might be dealt with, is it not, Mr Officer?

        35       A.   Yes, it is.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you have discussions with Mr Owen about the

        38       matters he refers to in this email?

        39       A.   I personally didn't have discussions with Mr Owen.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   I tender that email, AWB.5056.0157.

        42

        43       EXHIBIT #243 EMAIL FROM GRAHAM OWEN TO MARK EMONS,

        44       MR OFFICER AND OTHERS, BARCODED AWB.5056.0157

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, we have Mr Emons' response to

        47       Mr Owen at exhibit 108 and we need not spend time
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         1       backtracking over that.

         2

         3       Q.   Could I bring you to AWB.5056.0390, which is an email

         4       from Mr Hogan to Mr Emons and others.  Mr Emons has

         5       forwarded this to you for inclusion in the CEO report.  The

         6       relevant portion is page 0392, under "Iraq".  In the second

         7       paragraph it states:

         8

         9            AWB is currently negotiating the Free in

        10            Truck clause that Iraq has included in all

        11            new contracts.  Whilst AWB does not have an

        12            issue with the actual clause, there is some

        13            disagreement as to when the transport

        14            company should be paid and what tonnage.

        15            This is a concern for the AWB as Iraq is

        16            the only market contracted on final weight

        17            and quality after inspection by UN

        18            Inspectors at Umm Qasr...

        19

        20       Et cetera:

        21

        22            Subsequently, AWB do not wish to pay for

        23            transport costs upon Australian load port

        24            weights, as these invariably differ to the

        25            UN Inspectors discharge weights.

        26

        27       Did you include that in your report to the CEO?

        28       A.   I really don't recall.  That's a document that's been

        29       forwarded for inclusion in the CEO's report.  I have no

        30       reason to suspect that it probably didn't go, cut and

        31       paste, directly in.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you recall that this was a problem, though, for

        34       AWB - that even if you were not responsible for delivery of

        35       the wheat once the wheat passed over the ship's rail, you

        36       were responsible for paying the US$12 a metric tonne on the

        37       basis of the weight that was actually delivered in

        38       Umm Qasr?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   And that caused a problem for AWB on at least two

        42       fronts - one, if you paid the trucking fee in advance you

        43       would be paying it on the load weight and not on the

        44       discharge weight, but you would only be paid on the

        45       discharge weight from the escrow account, so there would be

        46       a gap that AWB would have to fund itself?

        47       A.   That's correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   Is that right?

         3       A.   That's correct.

         4

         5       Q.   And the second problem in relation to this process was

         6       that you had no control in relation to the weights once the

         7       ship left Australia?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   That problem was resolved in the first instance by

        11       splitting the payments for the inland transport fee, such

        12       that 90 per cent was paid, 10 per cent retained, and an

        13       adjustment made in relation to that last 10 per cent?

        14       A.   Correct.

        15

        16       Q.   That is what occurred in relation to the first payment

        17       of inland transport fee?

        18       A.   That's right.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   I'm not sure that we have that email in this

        21       current form as an exhibit, so I will tender AWB.5056.0390

        22       through to 0393.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #244 EMAIL FROM MR HOGAN TO MR EMONS AND OTHERS,

        25       BARCODED AWB.5056.0390-0393

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   That relates to paragraph 54 of the statement.

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, could that be a confidential

        30       exhibit, but for the Iraq portion of it?

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  The exhibit will contain only

        33       that portion commencing "Iraq" down to "grain handling

        34       section".  The balance is confidential and not to be

        35       published.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   There are two further emails that I want

        38       to draw your attention to, and they can be readily found as

        39       exhibit 114 - AWB.5056.0395.  We have this as exhibit 114

        40       with a different barcode number.  You will see at the

        41       bottom, Mr Officer, you have written to Mark Emons asking:

        42

        43            Where are we with the trucking fee issue?

        44            Even if we find a way through this issue do

        45            we take on any increased risk/exposure by

        46            contractually being responsible for

        47            trucking within Iraq?  I refer here to Y2K



            .9/2/06 (24)               2341     N C OFFICER (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            compliance issues as well as any other

         2            related risks.

         3

         4       In the next email you are told that the AWB is not

         5       responsible for trucking in Iraq, only for the payment.

         6       You are also told that Mr Emons was intending to clear up a

         7       number of details when he met with Zuhair at the end

         8       of November.  So may we take it that this was the final

         9       confirmation that you had that AWB was not responsible for

        10       the actual trucking?

        11       A.   I believe that to be the case.

        12

        13       Q.   So from at least this point on, 4 November 1999, your

        14       mindset would have been that, whilst you were paying a fee

        15       to the Iraqis said to be on account of trucking, the AWB

        16       itself was not responsible for the trucking?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   I will tender this, because it does capture

        20       Mr Emons' reply and it is in a different form to that which

        21       is already exhibited, although the content and substance is

        22       the same.  It is AWB.5056.0395.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #245 EMAIL FROM MARK EMONS TO MR OFFICER,

        25       DATED 4/11/1999, BARCODED AWB.5056.0395

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I bring you forward now, Mr Officer,

        28       to 20 December 1999.  Could we bring up, please,

        29       AWB.5035.0351 and 0352.  The first email in this train is

        30       one from Mr Snowball to Messrs Emons and Borlase, copied to

        31       you and Mr Morison.  Perhaps you should read that for

        32       context, but I want to ask you about the apparent reply to

        33       that email by Mr Emons.  When you get to the end of the

        34       page, we will turn it for you.

        35       A.   Thank you.  Yes, I am there.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you wish to go to the reply?

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  Can we go to the first page, 0351, and

        40       what appears as the email at the top of the page.

        41

        42       Q.   Mr Emons is writing to Mr Snowball.  You are copied

        43       in.  This appears to be a reply to Mr Snowball's email, and

        44       it deals with sanctions.  Mr Emons says:

        45

        46            Interesting situation on the sanctions.  We

        47            had Bob Bowker, Director of Mid East
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         1            section of DFAT down here last week.  He

         2            was of the opinion that there would not be

         3            any move on sanctions for some years.

         4

         5       He goes on there to reflect on what Mr Bowker had said and

         6       he expresses his own view.  Mr Officer, were you at any

         7       meeting with Mr Bowker that is referred to in that email?

         8       A.   I believe my diary entries have reference to a meeting

         9       with Bob Bowker.  I don't recall whether I was specifically

        10       at that meeting in the middle of December.

        11

        12       Q.   We will have your diary entry checked for that date.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   It says "last week", so it is the

        15       previous week.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Sorry, yes, perhaps going back to the beginning

        18       of December, certainly for the week of the 13th.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you ever tell Mr Bowker of any concerns you had

        21       concerning the payment of this trucking fee?

        22       A.   No.

        23

        24       Q.   Did you ever raise with Mr Bowker any issue about the

        25       payment of the trucking fee?

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       Q.   Or even refer to the trucking fee to Mr Bowker?

        29       A.   Not that I recall, no.

        30

        31       Q.   Is it something that you really wanted to draw to the

        32       attention of DFAT?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   By that do you mean it was something that you did not

        36       want to draw to the attention of DFAT?

        37       A.   We did not go out of our way not to draw it to the

        38       attention of DFAT.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You just left them uninformed?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   I will tender those two pages,

        44       Mr Commissioner - AWB.5035.0351 and 0352.

        45

        46       EXHIBIT #246 EMAIL FROM TIM SNOWBALL TO MARK EMONS,

        47       WITH REPLY, BARCODED AWB.5053.0351-0352
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I ask you about the situation as it

         3       was when it was proposed to introduce the corporate code of

         4       conduct policy?  We have as exhibit 126 this document - can

         5       we bring up, please, MAE.0003.0063.  These are notes of a

         6       meeting on the code of conduct.  You are recorded as being

         7       present, along with a number of others.  The notes speak

         8       for themselves.  Mr Emons has given evidence about the

         9       content of the general discussion that took place during

        10       the course of this meeting, and his evidence I believe

        11       included a reference to the payment of the inland trucking

        12       fee.  Does that accord with your recollection of the issues

        13       raised during the course of this meeting?

        14       A.   I, frankly, don't recall attending that meeting.  It

        15       is not to say that I didn't, but I don't recall attending

        16       that meeting, so therefore I have difficulty, naturally,

        17       recalling what Mark Emons said at that meeting.

        18

        19       Q.   And reading those notes does not assist you?

        20       A.   No, it doesn't, but, as I say, I have no reason -

        21       I was there, clearly I was, but I don't recall the meeting.

        22

        23       Q.   You are aware that there was an issue at the time

        24       concerning the request that had been made that employees of

        25       AWB sign the code of conduct?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   And you were aware that one of those issues was

        29       whether or not those employees were being asked to accept

        30       personal responsibility for payments which may or may not

        31       have been within the law?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   At a time when everybody believed that the payments

        35       had been sanctioned by the AWB?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Is that right?

        39       A.   Yes, that's right.

        40

        41       Q.   At the bottom of the page there is a reference to:

        42

        43            Action from Meeting.

        44            Richard Norris to arrange a meeting with

        45            Peter McKeown, Mark Emons, Peter McBride

        46            and Carol Gordon as soon as convenient.

        47            RN --



            .9/2/06 (24)               2344     N C OFFICER (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Richard Norris --

         2

         3            to advise outcome of meeting to

         4            Nigel Officer.

         5

         6       Do you have any recollection of advice that was provided to

         7       you as to the outcome of the meeting?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   Can you recall whether or not there were any follow-up

        11       meetings?

        12       A.   I don't recall.

        13

        14       Q.   Can you recall how it was that the issue was resolved?

        15       A.   No.  I don't believe it was resolved in my time -

        16       remaining time at the AWB.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you sign the code of conduct?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       Q.   Do you know whether within your time anybody else did?

        22       A.   I can't be sure, but I don't know of anyone who signed

        23       it.

        24

        25       Q.   Now, within your time at AWB did you become aware that

        26       a complaint had been made by a third party country, being

        27       the Canadians, concerning the payment by the AWB of

        28       trucking fees to the IGB?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   How did you come to have knowledge of that?

        32       A.   I can't recall specifically.  However, it was

        33       mentioned, I believe, in some of the email exchanges

        34       between our New York office and our marketing desk.

        35       I suspect I was included under copy, but I don't recall

        36       specifically.

        37

        38       Q.   What did you learn of the complaint, can you recall

        39       that?

        40       A.   I understand that the Canadians had been approached by

        41       the IGB to provide for the payment of inland transport

        42       costs.  I believe the Canadian Wheat Board - the CWB -

        43       sought advice on that and were advised that that may have

        44       been in contravention of UN arrangements, and I believe

        45       that's the nature of the background to that issue.

        46

        47       Q.   Were you consulted, within AWB, as to how the
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         1       complaint ought to be dealt with?

         2       A.   I don't recall being consulted, no.

         3

         4       Q.   This complaint, as we understand it, arose in very

         5       early 2000, which was within six months of the July

         6       contracts and within two or three months of the first

         7       payment of the trucking fee.  Can you recall anything of

         8       the inquiries that were made, if any were made, within AWB

         9       as to how a response ought to be made to this complaint?

        10       A.   No, I don't.

        11

        12       Q.   There are one or two passing references in the

        13       material that I want to take you to to see whether it

        14       prompts your recollection.  Can we go to AWB.5076.0373.

        15       You refer to this in paragraph 66 of your supplementary

        16       statement.  In the course of this email Mr Watson informs

        17       you, having reported on a number of matters that he

        18       discussed with the IGB:

        19

        20            Canada - definitely not in their good

        21            books.

        22

        23       Does that prompt your recollection at all?

        24       A.   I recall there was a general understanding that the

        25       Canadians, having received the response that they did,

        26       complained about the AWB, or the position that the AWB were

        27       providing for the inland transport costs, and that's what

        28       that reference in Mr Watson's email would be about, because

        29       they have ultimately gone back, it would seem, to the IGB

        30       and said that they are not in a position to do that.

        31

        32       Q.   Were you aware that Mr McConville had had any role in

        33       the response to the Canadian complaint?

        34       A.   Look, there may have been a reference in one or more

        35       emails, but I can't recall at this time.  It would seem

        36       likely - it would seem likely that he did, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Can you recall any discussion that you had with him

        39       concerning the trucking fee prior to any involvement that

        40       he had in responding to the Canadian complaint?

        41       A.   Well, he was involved, I would say, fairly closely

        42       with the Middle East marketing desk and from time to time

        43       myself about issues of this nature.  I suspect that, given

        44       that there was a need to liaise with Canberra about various

        45       aspects with respect to Iraq, he would have been involved

        46       and informed of these sorts of matters, yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   What seems apparent is that at no time, at least on

         2       the information that the inquiry has to date, in response

         3       to this complaint was anybody outside AWB told that in fact

         4       the AWB was paying a trucking fee to the Iraqis; would you

         5       agree with that?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Do you know whether that was as a result of some

         9       deliberate policy within AWB not to disclose that fact

        10       outside of AWB?

        11       A.   I think, as the Commissioner alluded to before, it was

        12       more a question of keeping people uninformed rather than

        13       having a deliberate policy to not inform people.  I mean,

        14       we are dealing with, you know, commercially sensitive

        15       business.  I mean, all contracts we entered into were

        16       confidential.  The AWB did not specifically have a policy

        17       of not advising people outside about the Iraq trucking

        18       arrangements, but, you know, it went without saying, if you

        19       like, that there was - no information was provided.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   For the reason which you

        22       previously said, that it may put this trade at risk?

        23       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I tender that email, barcoded

        26       AWB.5076.0373-0374.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #247 EMAIL FROM MICHAEL WATSON TO NIGEL OFFICER,

        29       DATED 16/4/2000, BARCODED AWB.5076.0373-0374

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I bring you to AWB.5072.0061.  I think

        32       this email is actually best picked up at AWB.5072.0059,

        33       because we have the original email here from Mark Emons to

        34       Joanne Martin, Messrs McConville, Officer, Laskie and

        35       Flugge, and then a response from Mr McConville.  In the

        36       first email from Emons to Joanne Martin and others,

        37       Mr Emons reports on the result of his recent visit to

        38       Baghdad and, in particular, he refers to the minister being

        39       appreciative of the AWB's handling of contractual and

        40       quality issues as compared to the CWB, which we understand

        41       to be the Canadian Wheat Board, and to the fact that the

        42       Canadian government had taken a negative stance against

        43       Iraq since its inclusion on the security council.

        44       Mr Officer, does that assist you to recall anything more

        45       about the Canadian complaint?

        46       A.   Well, no, not - nothing other than, you know, I was

        47       aware that there was a complaint by the Canadians.



            .9/2/06 (24)               2347     N C OFFICER (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Typically, they were not a major supplier to Iraq, as

         2       I recall.  My understanding of the complaint was precisely

         3       that, that they had complained to the United Nations,

         4       I believe, and had made some reference to the fact that

         5       they had received advice from Iraq that AWB had agreed to

         6       pay inland transport costs.

         7

         8       Q.   In that email, Mr Emons also refers to AWB being asked

         9       to offer barley, and indicates that the minister had raised

        10       comments to the effect that Australia should be encouraged

        11       to seek other trade opportunities with Iraq, and raises.

        12       Issues about the lack of a continuing Australian presence

        13       in Iraq.  The response from Andrew McConville speaks for

        14       itself.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two emails, AWB.5072.0059 and

        17       0060.

        18

        19       EXHIBIT #248 EMAIL FROM MARK EMONS TO JOANNE MARTIN AND

        20       OTHERS, DATED 26/4/2000, TOGETHER WITH REPLY FROM

        21       MR McCONVILLE TO MR EMONS, BARCODED AWB.5072.0059-0060

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   There are emails that had arisen dealing

        24       with the problems concerning demurrage.  Can I bring these

        25       up and tender them, because I want to put them to you in a

        26       particular context.  Could we bring up, please,

        27       AWB.0136.0287.  That's an email to you from Michael Tighe,

        28       essentially dealing with the demurrage problems that were

        29       being experienced in Iraq; is that right?

        30       A.   Yes.  Can I take it that the date of that email is

        31       also the date of the fax reference at the top of the page -

        32       25 May 2000?  The email does not seem to have a date on it.

        33

        34       Q.   Yes.  I am not able to give you that assurance,

        35       Mr Officer, but it does seem to relate to May 2000, and

        36       I say that because of the next two emails that I am going

        37       to take you to.

        38       A.   Okay.

        39

        40       Q.   AWB.0182.0162.  These two emails also deal with the

        41       topic of corporate risk meetings.  Have you had an

        42       opportunity to read those?

        43       A.   Yes, I have.

        44

        45       Q.   What do we understand, to the best of your knowledge,

        46       by Mr Emons' reference, "We need to discuss how this has

        47       come up.  We do appear to have split loyalties at play and
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         1       what I have suspected for some time is evident by Tighes

         2       request"?

         3       A.   At the time the delays in discharging vessels had

         4       increased, to the point where it was taking exceptionally

         5       long times for vessels to be turned around at the port of

         6       Umm Qasr.  As a result, and despite allowing for some

         7       protection in the pricing contracts for demurrage, it was

         8       to a point where that protection was being exceeded, so

         9       demurrage costs were becoming quite excessive.

        10

        11            The reference to "split loyalties" I believe is

        12       because the chartering at that time was done on a profit

        13       and loss basis - in other words, it was a chartering P&L.

        14       It was not part of the pool.  At that point chartering

        15       clearly felt that they were being - their profitability was

        16       potentially being jeopardised by the fact that they were in

        17       fact providing a service for the pool and in fact it should

        18       be a pool cost - in other words, the cost of the demurrage

        19       should be reflected in the pool returns.  That, I believe,

        20       represents the comment from Mr Emons with respect to "split

        21       loyalties".  Michael Tighe had responsibility for the pool

        22       and also chartering.  So I think that's - that would be my

        23       clear understanding of what that means.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two pages, Mr Commissioner -

        26       AWB.0136.0287 and AWB.0182.0162.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #249 TWO PAGES OF EMAILS, BARCODED AWB.0136.0287

        29       AND AWB.0182.0162

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Can I add to that two other documents referred

        32       to in Mr Officer's statement, AWB.5073.0307 and

        33       AWB.5073.0370 and 0371.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  They will be part of exhibit 249.

        36

        37       EXHIBIT #249 ADDITION OF TWO DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN MR

        38       OFFICER'S SUPPLEMENTARY STATUTORY DECLARATION BARCODED

        39       AWB.5073.0307 AND AWB.5073.0370-0371

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   They all relate to the same problem.  Could

        42       I add AWB.5073.0353.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That will be added to exhibit

        45       249.

        46

        47       EXHIBIT #249 ADDITION OF DOCUMENT BARCODED AWB.5073.0353
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we bring up AWB.5079.0221.  You refer

         2       to this in your supplementary statement at paragraph 68.

         3       I wonder if you can put the email that we see at the top of

         4       the page in some context for us.  Mr Watson was writing to

         5       you on 8 May 2000 and, on the subject of Iraqis, speaks of

         6       having instigated a small core team of David Cowan and

         7       Stu Richardson to look into the Iraqi program from an AWB

         8       big picture perspective and to provide thoughts on an

         9       overall strategy.  You will see that the rest of the email

        10       speaks for itself.  Was that core team charged in any way

        11       with investigating anything to do with the payment of the

        12       trucking fees?

        13       A.   I don't believe so.  It was purely operational to

        14       ensure the most expedient discharge of vessels in Iraq

        15       ports.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two pages, Mr Commissioner -

        18       AWB.5079.0221 and 0222.

        19

        20       EXHIBIT #250 TWO PAGES OF EMAILS,

        21       BARCODED AWB.5079.0221-0222

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I wanted to ask you now about Ronly, and,

        24       to that end could we bring up please exhibit 11 -

        25       AWB.0087.0076.  This is a copy of a letter from Mr Watson

        26       to Simone Jordon at Ronly in the UK, setting out the terms

        27       of the agreement between AWB and Ronly.  Are the terms of

        28       the agreement as set out in this letter consistent with

        29       what you understood to be the agreement, Mr Officer?

        30       A.   I've not previously seen this document.  I don't

        31       recall seeing the document.  It certainly hasn't been

        32       provided in any of the bundles that have been given to me

        33       as a part of this inquiry.  It is consistent, however, with

        34       what would have been required of Ronly.  The reference to

        35       the 20 cents per tonne commission, I suspect it is, I don't

        36       recall a discussion within the business about that, but

        37       that may well have taken place.

        38

        39       Q.   Do you see the last paragraph on the first page:

        40

        41            I would ask that you issue me an invoice

        42            periodically for shipments effected to

        43            cover the above fee and that such should be

        44            kept separate to any trucking or freight

        45            invoices.

        46

        47       I appreciate you are not the author of this letter, but can
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         1       you offer any explanation as to how that request might fit

         2       in with the arrangement that you understood AWB to have

         3       with Ronly?

         4       A.   I can only surmise that that was a way of accounting

         5       for it - the freight invoices would be sent and, rather

         6       than having a deduction for the fee payable to Ronly per se

         7       shown on that invoice, that there in fact would be a

         8       separate invoice for the fee.

         9

        10       Q.   But can you indicate as to why there would need to be

        11       a separate invoice for the fee, given the scheme in the

        12       terms in which it was envisaged and obviously approved by

        13       you?

        14       A.   No, I can't.

        15

        16       Q.   Were you aware that the agreement with Ronly had ever

        17       been noted in writing in this way?

        18       A.   As I said, I don't recall seeing this document.  It is

        19       not to say that I haven't, but I don't recall it at this

        20       time.  It would be consistent with what we had agreed and

        21       discussed at the time, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Was there any element in the proposal to use Ronly

        24       which included a consideration that Ronly should be used so

        25       as to make it a more attractive joint venture or takeover

        26       target for AWB - to your knowledge?

        27       A.   In terms of making Ronly a more attractive takeover

        28       target?

        29

        30       Q.   Yes, or a more attractive joint venture partner?

        31       A.   No, I would contend that it was entirely separate from

        32       any intention or inclination of AWB to acquire the

        33       interests of Ronly or a part of its business.

        34

        35       Q.   And when you say you would contend that it was

        36       entirely separate, on what basis do you so contend?

        37       A.   Ronly and AWB had developed a good relationship over a

        38       period of two or three years.  They had introduced a new

        39       market, effectively a very large market to us, into Turkey.

        40       We had developed a good relationship.  They were keen to

        41       expand on our sphere of cover into different markets.  They

        42       were active in sourcing grain in Europe and eastern Europe.

        43       Both parties felt that there was a natural fit for our

        44       businesses.  This issue is quite separate to any interest

        45       on either side, or on both sides, for a joint venture

        46       arrangement.

        47
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         1       Q.   Would you have imagined that any due diligence process

         2       that was conducted before any joint venture or before any

         3       plan to take over Ronly would have disclosed the fact of

         4       payment of a commission for the services that Ronly

         5       provided as a conduit for payments of this money?

         6       A.   Sorry, can I ask what date this note is?

         7

         8       Q.   6 March 2000.

         9       A.   Okay.  Yes, there would have been.  There was

        10       substantial due diligence work done with respect to the

        11       Ronly business by the AWB.  A team involving accountants

        12       went to London to go through all their books and to carry

        13       out a major due diligence of Ronly before we made a

        14       decision to acquire a part of their business.  So there is

        15       absolutely no reason to believe that they would not have

        16       been exposed to this fee.

        17

        18       Q.   Mr Rogers was asked some questions about this at

        19       page 580 of the transcript.  Perhaps I will start above

        20       that, at 578, at line 25.  These questions were asked and

        21       these answers were given:

        22

        23            Q.  Can you recall any discussion with

        24            either or both of those gentlemen --

        25

        26       being yourself or Mr Emons --

        27

        28            concerning the formulation of a plan to pay

        29            the $12 per tonne fee through vessel owners

        30            or brokers, such as Pac Rim?

        31            A.   No, I can't remember those

        32            discussions.

        33            Q.   Can you recall any discussions with

        34            either or both of those gentlemen

        35            concerning the formulation of a plan using

        36            a company called Ronly Holdings Limited to

        37            effect the payments on behalf of AWB?

        38            A.   I remember distinctly the name Ronly

        39            Holdings.  That's in the back of my mind.

        40            I can't remember the discussions in the

        41            context of Iraq with them, though.  We were

        42            looking to do a joint venture with them at

        43            one stage, if my memory is correct.

        44            Q.   But this is in respect of another

        45            aspect of the AWB's dealings with Ronly

        46            Holdings - the formulation of a plan to use

        47            Ronly Holdings as a third party to assist
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         1            in effecting payments of the $12 to Iraq?

         2            A.   I don't remember those discussions.

         3            It is not to say they didn't take place,

         4            I just don't remember --

         5

         6       Being a conduit.  Sorry, I am missing a page:

         7

         8            Q.   So, in response to my last three or

         9            four questions, when you said, "No, I can't

        10            remember those discussions", what you are

        11            saying is you can't remember, not that, to

        12            the best of your recollection, they didn't

        13            take place?

        14            A.   Oh, well, it probably means the same

        15            thing.

        16

        17       Then further on, at page 580, at line 19:

        18

        19            Q.   Now, can you think carefully:  was

        20            there a separate deal - I don't mean to us

        21            depreciative words, but was there some kind

        22            of a side deal envisaged with Ronly whereby

        23            it could be used as an agency for the

        24            passing of fees back to the Iraqis?

        25            A.   I don't remember that.

        26            Q.   Do you remember discussing such a

        27            matter with Nigel Officer?

        28            A.   Yes, I had wide-ranging discussions

        29            with Nigel Officer nearly every day.  I

        30            can't remember anything specific - not to

        31            say it didn't happen.

        32            Q.   If AWB entered into an agreement with

        33            Ronly in which Ronly agreed to act as a

        34            conduit for these payments of $12 a tonne

        35            in return for itself receiving a commission

        36            of 20 cents a tonne for its services as a

        37            conduit for the payments, is that a matter

        38            that would have required your approval?

        39            A.   Probably would have required board

        40            approval as well.

        41            Q.   Did anybody seek your approval for

        42            such a transaction, or such an agreement I

        43            should say?

        44            A.   I honestly don't remember it.  I don't

        45            remember that.  We never - the venture

        46            never went on, I don't think, with Ronly.

        47
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         1       Can you recall whether or not this matter of using Ronly as

         2       an agent or a conduit for passing payments, and in return

         3       receiving 20 cents a tonne, ever found its way to the board

         4       for approval?

         5       A.   I don't believe it did.

         6

         7       Q.   I know I put this to you before:  having heard that

         8       evidence read, can you recall whether or not you ever

         9       discussed the matter with Mr Rogers and sought his

        10       approval?

        11       A.   I don't recall discussing it with Mr Rogers, but I

        12       know that there were discussions between myself, Mark Emons

        13       and the chairman about the use of Ronly.  I would have

        14       thought that there may have been some discussions with

        15       Mr Rogers, but I don't recall sufficiently well.

        16

        17       Q.   What about the use of Ronly on the payment of a

        18       commission?

        19       A.   Well, I personally don't recall that commission

        20       arrangement.  Ronly was certainly happy to assist AWB,

        21       given their desire to expand the relationship with us at

        22       that time.  As I say, I may have been involved in

        23       discussions about the commission, but I'm a little

        24       surprised to see that here, but it doesn't totally surprise

        25       me that there would have been a commercial arrangement in

        26       place for providing that service.

        27

        28       Q.   On this same topic, can we bring up, please,

        29       exhibit 139, which I have as AWB.0182.0163.  These are two

        30       emails, both on 9 May 2000.  I'm not suggesting that you

        31       received them or that you were a party to this email train.

        32       Can I ask you to read them?  The first is at the bottom of

        33       the page.  Have you read those?  Mr Officer, are you able

        34       to put either of those emails in any context?

        35       A.   No, I'm not.  I don't recall ever seeing these or

        36       discussing --

        37

        38       Q.   I'm not suggesting that you have seen them, but from

        39       knowledge that you have, or information that you have, are

        40       you able to put them in any context?

        41       A.   No, no, not really.  My understanding was that Ronly

        42       were involved in the payment of the inland transport fee,

        43       $12.  I was not aware of Ronly being used as a means to pay

        44       the freight - the ocean freight.

        45

        46       Q.   Were you aware that, as well as Ronly, other vessel

        47       owners were employed from time to time to effect payments
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         1       of the inland transport fee?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Can I direct your attention to the email at the top of

         5       the page.  This is an email from Mr Emons to Erol at Ronly,

         6       in which he says:

         7

         8            I am sure I don't need to remind you of the

         9            sensitivity of sending the freight invoices

        10            to AWB (by mistake no doubt) but with all

        11            the book balancing we are doing plus the

        12            discretionary payments to our friends in

        13            the Middle East we do need to run a very

        14            tight admin.

        15            If you have any doubts as to the security

        16            of what we are doing I suggest you fax the

        17            invoices to Michael's home...or mine...

        18

        19       And there are numbers given.  Can you offer any opinion of

        20       your own as to what Mr Emons was talking about when he said

        21       "with all the book balancing we are doing plus the

        22       discretionary payments to our friends in the Middle East"

        23       such as to require not sending freight invoices to AWB?

        24       A.   I must admit, I really struggle with understanding

        25       that.  Ronly were engaged, consistent with discussions that

        26       we had within the business, to provide or to pay the inland

        27       transport fee.  They may also have been engaged to pay the

        28       freight, ocean freight provider as well, and therefore

        29       there would be some parceling of the freight and the $12.

        30       I don't understand the reference, therefore, to

        31       "discretionary payments to our friends in the Middle East".

        32       I think that's as much context as I can put these emails

        33       in.

        34

        35       Q.   Were you aware that the company referred to in the

        36       email at the bottom of the page, Tse Yu Hong, was a shelf

        37       company used by Ronly to assist in effecting the payments?

        38       A.   No, I wasn't.

        39

        40       Q.   Are you aware of the use of any banking facilities in

        41       Lichtenstein being employed as a conduit for the payments?

        42       A.   No, I wasn't.

        43

        44       Q.   Are you aware as to whether or not Zuhair Daoud was

        45       receiving what I will refer to as discretionary payments?

        46       A.   No, I wasn't.

        47
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         1       Q.   And by "discretionary payments", do you understand me

         2       to be referring to bribes?

         3       A.   I understood your reference.  My answer is the same -

         4       I was not aware.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   I want to deal with a number of other documents

         7       you refer to in your statement.  At paragraph 69 you refer

         8       to some emails, and I will tender them:  AWB.5107.0012

         9       through to and inclusive of 0014.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #251 EMAIL BARCODED AWB.5107.0012-0014

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   In paragraph 70 you refer to an email barcoded

        14       AWB.5079.0273.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #252 EMAIL BARCODED AWB.5079.0273

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   In paragraph 71 you refer to emails - and I

        19       will tender them - AWB.5076.0360 through to and inclusive

        20       of 0363.

        21

        22       EXHIBIT #253 EMAILS BARCODED AWB.5076.0360 -0363

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   In paragraphs 71 and 72 you refer to a number

        25       of emails and documents, some of which are repetitive.

        26       Could I tender in relation to paragraph 72 AWB.5076.0358.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #254 DOCUMENT EMAIL BARCODED AWB.5076.0358

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:  And AWB.5040.0255 and AWB.5116.0157.

        31

        32       EXHIBIT #255 DOCUMENTS BARCODED AWB.5040.0255 AND

        33       AWB.5116.0157

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think you have not tendered the

        36       document referred to in paragraph  71, AWB.5040.0257.  I am

        37       told it is not an exhibit.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   I think that is already an exhibit.  It is

        40       0360.  I will just check that.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   We can sort it out over the lunch hour.

        43       It is confidential exhibit 37C, I am told.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   That brings me to some matters arising from the

        46       Arthur Andersen report.

        47
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         1       Q.   Mr Officer, were you one of those interviewed by

         2       personnel from Arthur Andersen?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Perhaps that's a matter that I can take up at

         6       2 o'clock, Mr Commissioner.  Is that a convenient time?

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  I will adjourn until

         9       2 o'clock.

        10

        11       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        12

        13

        14

        15

        16

        17

        18

        19

        20
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Officer, there are a number of matters

         4       that I want to put to you from confidential exhibit 69C,

         5       which is the December 2000 report from Messrs Arthur

         6       Andersen.  In this report, under the heading "Inland

         7       Trucking", the following is recorded, and I want to read to

         8       you a portion of it and get your comment on it.  I'm

         9       reading from page 0117:

        10

        11            During our review, we found a number of

        12            email records that related to Iraq.  These

        13            records contained indications of integrity

        14            risks or red flags.  We conducted a review

        15            of the Iraq dealings.  The main aspect of

        16            these findings is the state of mind,

        17            knowledge and involvement of AWB employees.

        18            Michael Watson informed us that

        19            approximately two years ago a UN tender for

        20            free on truck was in place.  The IGB would

        21            pay the trucking fee to AWB, together with

        22            the C&F value.  AWB would remit the

        23            trucking fee to the Jordanian trucking

        24            company transporting the grain.  AWB

        25            received information that apparently

        26            originated from the AWB New York office

        27            that the UN were asking about the payment

        28            to the trucking company.  The information

        29            was that the Canadians had asked for an

        30            inquiry into the arrangements.  Michael

        31            Watson informed us that this raised

        32            concerns at AWB about future sales to Iraq.

        33            There was AWB management pressure to

        34            maintain the sales to Iraq.  He advised

        35            that Mark Emons and Nigel Officer wanted to

        36            find ways to avoid attracting the attention

        37            of the UN.

        38

        39       Do you have any comment on that last paragraph, in which

        40       you were mentioned, along with Michael Emons, as wanting to

        41       find ways to avoid attracting the attention of the UN?

        42       A.   Those comments are attributable to a verbal interview

        43       with Michael Watson, I understand.

        44

        45       Q.   Yes.

        46       A.   Okay.  I think the organisation, we all wanted to find

        47       a mechanism by which the trucking fees could be paid.
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         1       There's no question about that.  It wasn't a question of

         2       anyone being under pressure.  The organisation - we talked

         3       about this earlier today - was looking for an appropriate

         4       means or mechanism to make those payments, and certainly I

         5       was part of those discussions that took place with respect

         6       to seeking the means.

         7

         8       Q.   Mr Watson puts this in a slightly different context,

         9       not seeking the means to make the payments, but he advised

        10       that Mark Emons and Nigel Officer wanted to find ways to

        11       avoid attracting the attention of the UN?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   It would seem from what you've said to us today that,

        15       although in different words, that would be a fair summary

        16       of what at least you and Mr Emons were about?

        17       A.   Well, certainly it wasn't the intention to advise to

        18       the UN that we were looking for ways to make those trucking

        19       fees.  It was a question of not making sure, but not

        20       informing them as such.

        21

        22       Q.   You would say there were others aside from yourself

        23       and Mr Emons who were working to that end?

        24       A.   Well, I think the organisation - a group within the

        25       organisation - we've talked about this earlier - knew that

        26       we had imposed upon us by the IGB the need to pay a

        27       trucking fee.  The organisation, in effect, had accepted

        28       that and it was a question of finding a way to make those

        29       payments without alerting or throwing up, if you like, the

        30       red flag to the United Nations.

        31

        32       Q.   There is one other aspect of this report that I want

        33       to put to you, and it concerns mobile telephones.  The

        34       report indicates that, as at the date of the report, Ronly

        35       were seeking recovery of some $9,500 from AWB in relation

        36       to four mobile telephone accounts that had been provided to

        37       AWB employees, and you are named as one of the four who had

        38       received the mobile telephones.  Have you any comment to

        39       make about that?

        40       A.   No, I recall quite clearly receiving a mobile phone

        41       from them.

        42

        43       Q.   Were there any terms and conditions associated with

        44       the provision of the mobile phone to you?

        45       A.   Not that I recall, but I do recall that we were to be

        46       charged with - the organisation would be charged with the

        47       cost of any calls that we made, that they would go through
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         1       the Ronly accounts, that Ronly would pay for them, in

         2       effect, because the phone was provided by their service

         3       provided, but that we would be ultimately charged for the

         4       calls as if we were using an AWB-provided mobile phone.

         5

         6       Q.   And the charges would be forwarded from Ronly to AWB?

         7       A.   My understanding.  I mean, the phones - the SIM cards

         8       with those handsets were ones that operated in places where

         9       the Australian network was not covering.

        10

        11       Q.   Was that the purpose for which you were given the

        12       phone, so that you'd have better coverage?

        13       A.   As I understand it, yes.  I think at that time the

        14       Australian network was not covering some of the markets

        15       that we visited on a regular basis.  There was certainly

        16       nothing, if I can use the word, sinister about it.

        17

        18       Q.   Then I want to cover with you the circumstances in

        19       which you came to leave AWB.  You've dealt with this in

        20       your supplementary statutory declaration.  We have from you

        21       a letter of 5 June 2000 directed to you and signed by

        22       Andrew Lindberg.  I have an unbarcoded copy.  Would you

        23       look at this document.  Is that a copy of the letter that

        24       was provided to you upon your retrenchment with deletions

        25       relating to commercial confidentiality?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   I tender that, Mr Commissioner, and ask that it

        29       be marked as a confidential exhibit.

        30

        31       EXHIBIT #121C LETTER TO MR OFFICER, DATED 5/6/2000,

        32       SIGNED BY MR LINDBERG

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Additionally, Mr Officer, did you sign a

        35       release between yourself and AWB Limited which was

        36       co-signed by Ms Grant on behalf of AWB?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Would you have a look at this document.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Ms Grant was the witness, I think.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is that a copy of the release that you

        44       signed?

        45       A.   Yes, it is.

        46

        47       Q.   And Ms Grant witnessed your signature?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Who signed on behalf of AWB and had their signature

         4       witnessed by Ms Grant?

         5       A.   I would suggest that's Paul Rate, who was manager,

         6       human resources, at the time.  That looks like his

         7       signature.

         8

         9       Q.   That release included a particular clause that I want

        10       to come to.

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   It's dated 30 June 2000 and it includes this clause:

        14

        15            AWB acknowledges that it (by its Board and

        16            Chief Executive Officer) authorised agency

        17            payments during the period 15 December 1999

        18            to 9 June 2000 to overseas agents for

        19            sales.

        20

        21       That's so, is it not?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender that copy of the

        25       release and ask for it to be marked as a confidential

        26       exhibit, save for that portion that I've read.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #122C RELEASE BETWEEN MR OFFICER AND AWB LIMITED,

        29       CO-SIGNED BY MS GRANT ON BEHALF OF AWB, DATED 30/6/2000

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You deal with the circumstances of how it

        32       came about that you were retrenched, and you say, in

        33       particular, at paragraph 88 of your supplementary

        34       statement, page 19, that you had concerns, and you say

        35       about halfway through the paragraph:

        36

        37            In this context, my concern was focused

        38            primarily on the legality of agency fees in

        39            Pakistan, notwithstanding the review

        40            undertaken by our arrangements in that

        41            market --

        42

        43       as you'd outlined earlier in the statutory declaration --

        44

        45            and how the payment of Iraq transport costs

        46            might be characterised.

        47
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         1       You say:

         2

         3            Mark Emons, at pages 1897, 1898 of the

         4            transcript, was asked whether such payments

         5            as these constituted facilitation payments.

         6            Although I did not think in those terms at

         7            the time, I began to realise that the

         8            payments may be questionable as a matter of

         9            law.

        10

        11       I want to just ask you about that last sentence.  To which

        12       time were you referring when you said "although I did not

        13       think in those terms at the time"?

        14       A.   In December - on 15 December 1999 the government

        15       promulgated legislation with respect to corruption of

        16       overseas foreign officials, so we were very conscious in

        17       the lead-up to that that all our overseas contracts, agency

        18       arrangements, were in accordance with the legislation, and

        19       I believe that we did - in fact, we did conduct a review of

        20       all our arrangements, and the primary market to hit the

        21       radar screen was Pakistan.

        22

        23            As I said earlier, my understanding of the Iraq

        24       trucking arrangements at the time, perhaps naively in

        25       hindsight, was that moneys were to be paid for the use of

        26       transport, and I suspect that at the time, if I refer to

        27       paragraph 88 - at the time I signed that release I was

        28       perhaps still of the view that perhaps those moneys were

        29       being used for trucking purposes.  So, on reflection, it

        30       would appear that it may have been a slightly naive

        31       perspective, and that's the reason for that last sentence

        32       in paragraph 88.

        33

        34       Q.   Well, when was it that you began to realise that the

        35       payments may be questionable as a matter of law?

        36       A.   We certainly knew that they may be questionable in the

        37       context of the United Nations arrangements.  Now, that may

        38       in itself constitute - a breach of those sanctions may in

        39       fact constitute a breach of law, so I suspect that, whilst

        40       we were concerned about the compliance with UN sanctions,

        41       more particularly with respect to the new legislation in

        42       1999, I became conscious of any non-compliance with that

        43       legislation later on.

        44

        45       Q.   So do you say that it was after December 1999 and up

        46       to the date of your retrenchment that you began to realise

        47       that the payments may be questionable?
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         1       A.   I think that's an accurate reflection, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   You sought a clause in the release in terms such as we

         4       see in paragraph 8, did you not?

         5       A.   Yes, I did.

         6

         7       Q.   When you sought that clause, did you have in mind that

         8       it would apply to not just the payments concerning

         9       Pakistan, but also the payments of the trucking fees in

        10       relation to Iraq?

        11       A.   I believe that's so, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   The clause says that the AWB acknowledges that it, by

        14       its board and chief executive officer, authorised the

        15       agency payments.  Did you have any discussion with

        16       Mr Lindberg about that aspect of the clause?

        17       A.   I don't recall having any discussion with Mr Lindberg

        18       after he delivered to me the letter dated 5 June, and that

        19       was delivered to me at a meeting I had with him.  The

        20       discussions with respect to that clause I believe were

        21       conducted between myself and the HR department, who were, I

        22       was advised, acting on instructions from - or advice and

        23       instructions from AWB legal department and I presumed they

        24       were in consultation as well with Mr Lindberg.

        25

        26       Q.   So may we take it, then, that you received your letter

        27       of termination from Mr Lindberg and that the negotiations

        28       that you had thereafter about your release were all with

        29       the HR department?

        30       A.   That's correct.

        31

        32       Q.   At page 20, paragraph 96 of your supplementary

        33       statement, you refer to the fact that one of the documents

        34       that you produced in response to a notice to produce that

        35       had been served on you by the inquiry was a draft deed of

        36       indemnity offered to you by AWB, which included an offer to

        37       pay your legal costs incurred in relation to this inquiry.

        38       You go on to say that you had asked your lawyers to request

        39       of AWB that it agree to delete clause 6 of the deed.  You

        40       say:

        41

        42            My lawyers have informed me that AWB is

        43            considering this request, but as yet (as at

        44            the date and time of signing this

        45            declaration) has not responded to my

        46            lawyers.

        47
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         1       The declaration is dated only yesterday.  Has there been

         2       any advance on that situation?

         3       A.   No, unfortunately not.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, the deed referred to there is

         6       confidential exhibit 13.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Officer, have the concerns that you

        11       have expressed or referred to in paragraph 96 in any way

        12       affected the veracity or truthfulness of the evidence that

        13       you have given today?

        14       A.   In no way whatsoever.

        15

        16       Q.   You will agree, will you not, that when you gave

        17       evidence in confidential hearing on 5 January 2006, your

        18       evidence was in many respects at odds with the evidence

        19       that you've given today?

        20       A.   I've seen a lot of documents since that time and read

        21       a number of the transcripts, so that would perhaps explain

        22       why - if there is any at odds, that would perhaps explain

        23       it.

        24

        25       Q.   That may be a partial explanation, Mr Officer, but you

        26       would agree, would you not, that you were not being

        27       entirely frank with the inquiry when you gave evidence on

        28       5 January?

        29       A.   Well, I think I've explained that in the opening

        30       paragraph of my supplementary statutory declaration.  In

        31       paragraph 2 I think I've - hopefully - adequately explained

        32       my position.

        33

        34       Q.   Paragraph 2 relates to the statement, your first

        35       statement.  I was more dealing with the evidence that you

        36       gave on 5 January.  I'll just give you some examples.  I

        37       don't want to take up time going through the whole of that

        38       transcript and finding every example, but let me put these

        39       to you.  At page 306, at line 3:

        40

        41            Q.  Are you able to say whether or not the

        42            AWB had used this mechanism of using a

        43            shipper for the conduit or for the use of

        44            making a payment in any other

        45            circumstances?

        46            A.  I don't recall.

        47            Q.  I mean really the shipper was a
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         1            carrier, it was just a conduit for the

         2            payment of money to a third party; is that

         3            right?

         4            A.  Yes, that's correct, yes.

         5            COMMISSIONER:  Q.   Why do you say that

         6            would be arranged that way?

         7            A.   Well, I don't recall why it was

         8            specifically arranged that way, only that,

         9            you know, the owner of the shipping

        10            companies engaged in, you know, practices

        11            at the port, but beyond that I don't really

        12            know.  I can't recall and I don't really

        13            know why it would have happened that way,

        14            but --

        15            Q.  The obvious reason is to hide the

        16            payment?

        17            A.  Well, I don't recall that there was any

        18            reason to hide the payment.  There was an

        19            agreement reached with the IGB that they

        20            had and which followed an agreement they

        21            had reached with the United Nations and it

        22            was a - I don't recall why the shipping

        23            company - I'm actually - I'm not sure that

        24            that actually did happen, but there were

        25            certainly some discussions about making the

        26            payments through a shipping company.  Why

        27            it happened that way I don't recall

        28            specifically.

        29

        30       Now, today you've given chapter and verse evidence as to

        31       how it came about that shipping companies were used as

        32       conduits for payments.  That's quite different to the

        33       situation on 5 January 2006.  It's not because you just

        34       didn't recall those matters in January 2006, is it?

        35       A.   Well, I think it is.  I think the fact of the matter

        36       is that there's been a lot of information made available

        37       since that time and there's been a lot of - this is a very

        38       public inquiry.  There's been a lot of information seen and

        39       heard with respect to these matters and, naturally, that

        40       helps to provide a recall that perhaps didn't exist back on

        41       5 January.

        42

        43       Q.   Well, let me put another portion of the transcript to

        44       you at line 16 on page 307:

        45

        46            Q.   Are you aware of any circumstances

        47            ever being discussed which involved using
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         1            Ronly as part of a conduit for the payment

         2            of money?

         3            A.  No.

         4            Q.  Not at all?

         5            A.  Not at all.  We did a lot of business

         6            with Ronly, but I don't - there was no

         7            discussions as far as I'm concerned, as far

         8            as I was aware, with Ronly about the

         9            payment of moneys for the purpose of the

        10            inland transport costs in Iraq.

        11

        12       Now, that wasn't a full and frank statement, was it?

        13       A.   Well, I think a month on it's certainly not - the view

        14       is different, I accept that.  But, again, my response to

        15       your proposition it wasn't full and frank is the same as I

        16       gave you to the previous question.

        17

        18       Q.   I'm going to put another portion to you, Mr Officer.

        19       I just want to put it in context.  At page 340, line 44, I

        20       put this to you:

        21

        22            Q.   Don't you see that if this contract

        23            had been approved by the United Nations,

        24            the United Nations, as an independent third

        25            party reading that contract, would have had

        26            the wrong view as to what were the

        27            obligations of the AWB under the contract?

        28            A. Yes, but the IGB were having separate

        29            discussions with the United Nations.  Their

        30            advice to us was that they had had these

        31            discussions with the United Nations and

        32            that the United Nations had approved our

        33            advice all along --

        34            Q.  Who told you that?

        35            A.   I would have received that information

        36            from Mark Emons, who would have received

        37            that information from Zuhair Daoud, with

        38            whom I was discussing all these matters.

        39            Q. Why then sign a contract with the Grain

        40            Board of Iraq for submission to the UN

        41            which was inconsistent with what the actual

        42            arrangements were with the IGB?

        43            A. Look, I can't answer that question.

        44

        45       That wasn't a full and frank answer, was it?

        46       A.   Well, I can only repeat the response I've given to the

        47       preceding two questions.  You know, a month has transpired,
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         1       or more, and a lot of information has been gained, you

         2       know, through sight and hearing, so I can't add to that.

         3

         4       Q.   Would that be your response to any other alleged

         5       discrepancy between the evidence you gave on 5 January 2006

         6       and the evidence you've given here today?

         7       A.   Well, with respect, I think that's a speculative

         8       question, but - I'm not really in a position to answer

         9       that.  But I don't believe there are major disparities in

        10       what was said then and what's been said now.

        11

        12       Q.   You have since read a transcript of your evidence of

        13       5 January 2006?

        14       A.   Yes, I have.

        15

        16       Q.   Were there any portions of that transcript that struck

        17       you as reflective of any attempt by you not to be truthful?

        18       A.   No, I don't believe so.  I think that at the time I

        19       had seen some documents which were provided to me by the

        20       AWB, which I sighted in Melbourne on I think 30 December

        21       and again in Sydney on 4 January.  Those documents,

        22       frankly - or of the documents provided to me, perhaps only

        23       10 per cent of them were related to this issue, and a

        24       number of them - well, not many of the documents were

        25       relevant.  Most of the documents that were produced on

        26       5 January were in fact ones I hadn't seen, either at all or

        27       not since my employ at the AWB, so I was really operating

        28       from a fairly ill-informed position at that time.  So, with

        29       the benefit of what's transpired so far in the inquiry,

        30       with the benefit of time, I have a clearer recollection.  I

        31       don't think that's not understandable.

        32

        33       Q.   Mr Officer, you have, in addition, produced another

        34       bundle of documents for the assistance of the inquiry, have

        35       you not?

        36       A.   With respect to the agency arrangements?

        37

        38       Q.   With respect to the agency arrangements, yes.

        39       A.   That's correct.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   I tender that bundle, Mr Commissioner.  We have

        42       removed the names of AA6 and AA7 and we have also removed

        43       the name of a company associated with AA6, to which we

        44       refer in the relevant edited document as AA8.

        45

        46       EXHIBIT #256 BUNDLE OF DOCUMENTS WITH RESPECT TO AGENCY

        47       AGREEMENTS PROVIDED TO THE INQUIRY BY MR OFFICER
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   I do not believe there is any material here

         3       which would be caught by my learned friend's claim for

         4       commercial in confidence but perhaps, for more abundant

         5       caution, might we pass a copy of the bundle to my learned

         6       friend and it can be vetted.  Most of the documents are not

         7       AWB documents, although there are some emails and other

         8       documents that I would draw my learned friend's attention

         9       to.

        10

        11            That completes the evidence that we are in a position

        12       to call from Mr Officer at this time, Mr Commissioner.

        13

        14       MR GREEN:  Just before my learned friend concludes with the

        15       transcript of evidence that Mr Officer gave on 5 January,

        16       Commissioner, may I ask through the bench, does my learned

        17       friend propose to take the witness to page 331 of the

        18       transcript at line 13 and onwards?

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   I am content to do that.

        21

        22       Q.   Mr Officer, I'll start just above line 13.  You were

        23       shown a barcoded document at page 330, which became

        24       confidential exhibit 20.  My question to you was:

        25

        26            Q.  This is a letter from the general

        27            manager of Alia, Othman al-Absi.  This is

        28            directed to the attention of Mark Emons.

        29            It is a week later.  Again, it is

        30            introducing Alia, and this time introducing

        31            bank account details.  Did you see that

        32            letter at about that time?

        33            A.  No.

        34            Q.  Do you know anything about the

        35            background of how Alia came to be

        36            introduced to these arrangements between

        37            the AWB and the IGB?

        38            A.  No.

        39            THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Do you know with

        40            whom the phone call was that is referred to

        41            in the third paragraph?

        42            A. No.

        43

        44       At line 13, a question from myself:

        45

        46            MR AGIUS:   Q.   When, to the best of your

        47            knowledge, did you first become aware of
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         1            Alia?

         2            A.  I don't recall any memory of the name

         3            Alia for Transportation and General Trade

         4            until I read the Volcker Report.  It wasn't

         5            a company name that I was aware of at the

         6            time.

         7

         8       Now, was that evidence frank and true?

         9       A.   At the time, absolutely, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Do you have a different recollection now?

        12       A.   Well, I do.  I mean, at the time - as I said quite

        13       clearly in that, I didn't recall the name Alia.  You

        14       produced a document which showed my signature with respect

        15       to a payment to Alia.  I could not recall that at all.  It

        16       wasn't a name that rang true for me back on 5 January, or

        17       prior to reading some of the transcript - some of the

        18       Volcker Report.

        19

        20       Q.   But you know now, don't you, that the name Alia for

        21       Transportation and General Trade was provided to Mark Emons

        22       as the company to whom the first payment of inland

        23       transport fees should be made?

        24       A.   I do - I do recall that, yes, now.

        25

        26       Q.   But you didn't recall that on 5 January 2006?

        27       A.   That's right.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   I am happy to put any other portion of the

        30       transcript to the witness, either on this occasion or any

        31       other occasion if he's recalled.  I just didn't want to

        32       spend the afternoon going through various portions of the

        33       document.

        34

        35            As I say, that is the examination of this witness to

        36       the point to which I propose to take it this afternoon.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Evans, do you want to ask Mr Officer

        39       any questions at this stage?

        40

        41       MR EVANS:   Not at this stage, Mr Commissioner.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are other people in a position to

        44       indicate whether they wish to cross-examine Mr Officer?

        45

        46       MR GREEN:   I shall reserve my position.  I shall liaise

        47       with Mr Agius.
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         1

         2       MR ALLEN:   I'm in the same position.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   We'll fix a time later, by which time

         5       notice must be given that witnesses are to be

         6       cross-examined.  When that occurs, I would like people to

         7       indicate in written form the area where they suggest there

         8       is a conflict which would make useful such

         9       cross-examination so that I can determine the scope that

        10       cross-examination should be given.  Thank you, Mr Officer.

        11       I'll adjourn any further examination of you to a date to be

        12       fixed by arrangement with your legal advisers.  Thank you.

        13       You may step down.

        14

        15       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Could we have an adjournment for just a few

        18       minutes whilst we arrange the next witness?

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        21

        22       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        23

        24       <CHARLES ERIC STOTT, on former oath:         [2.44pm]

        25

        26       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS CONTINUING:

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   You're on your former oath, Mr Stott.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, I wonder if we could go back to

        31       exhibit 212 with you.  It's the email from Mr Norman

        32       Davidson Kelly to you on 15 September 2000, at

        33       AWB.0106.0104.  That email concludes with, "It was good to

        34       see you, Mark Vaile and Bob Bowker in Melbourne yesterday".

        35       Reading that email in its temporal context, "yesterday"

        36       would appear to be 14 September 2000; you'd agree with

        37       that?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   We saw that in your electronic diary there was a

        41       reference to Mr Bowker at 8.30 on 13 September 2000 - do

        42       you recall that?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Strictly, that would be the day before "yesterday" if

        46       one had this email in mind?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you recall where you were on 13 September 2000?

         3       A.   I think I was in Melbourne.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you recall what you did on 13 September?

         6       A.   No, I don't.

         7

         8       Q.   I'll try to put this into some context for you.  As I

         9       recall, I think the Sydney Olympic Games opened on

        10       14 September.  Do you recall attending a restaurant in

        11       Melbourne on the edge of the Albert Park Lake?

        12       A.   No.

        13

        14       Q.   Do you recall attending a function that had been

        15       sponsored by BHP?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   You knew Mr Harley, did you not?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Can you recall whether or not, on that day,

        22       13 September, you saw Mr Harley?

        23       A.   No.

        24

        25       Q.   I think you remember attending the launch of a

        26       BHP-sponsored Federal Government Report on Middle East

        27       Business Opportunities, the function being hosted by the

        28       Australia Arab Chamber of Commerce and Industry?

        29       A.   I may have been a guest speaker at that event, but I -

        30       I was a guest speaker at one of those events around that

        31       time.  I have been a guest speaker at one of those events,

        32       but I'm not sure if it was at this time.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Your diary, exhibit 222,

        35       13 September, 12 o'clock, has "Launch of EAAU's latest

        36       report - Accessing Middle East Growth - at the Promenade

        37       Room, The Point - Albert Park Lake"; does that help you?

        38       A.   Yes, it does, Commissioner.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can you tell us what your revived

        41       recollection is?

        42       A.   That - could I just have a look at the diary, please?

        43       I attended that function, and I may have, as I said

        44       earlier, been a speaker at that function.

        45

        46       Q.   Will you bring up, please, AWB.0178.0359.  Do you see

        47       the entry for 13 September 2000?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Does that assist your recollection?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   What can you tell us?

         7       A.   That I think I might have been a guest speaker at that

         8       function.

         9

        10       Q.   Can you recall whether you saw Mr Bowker at that

        11       function?

        12       A.   There were many business people with interests in

        13       the - Australian interests in the Middle East at that

        14       function, and I don't know if Bob was there.  He may have

        15       been there.  I think there would have been a guest list for

        16       that function.  I don't recall if Bob was there.

        17

        18       Q.   Can you recall whether you saw Mr Norman

        19       Davidson Kelly at that function?

        20       A.   No.

        21

        22       Q.   Can you recall whether you saw the Deputy Prime

        23       Minister, Mr Vaile, at that function?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   With the current state of your recollection, can you

        27       recall having any discussions on that day concerning the

        28       Tigris debt?

        29       A.   No.

        30

        31       Q.   What date in 2000 did you leave BHP and return to the

        32       AWB?

        33       A.   I officially started with the AWB on 10 July 2000.

        34

        35       Q.   I think you told us that you were there unofficially a

        36       little before then.  What was the date that you left BHP?

        37       A.   I officially left BHP - I think I accepted a

        38       redundancy from BHP and left - I'm not sure exactly what

        39       date it would have been, but probably the Friday before I

        40       started at AWB - officially started at AWB.

        41

        42       Q.   So were you officially and actively employed at BHP in

        43       May of 2000?

        44       A.   Yes - well, I was employed by BHP in May 2000.

        45

        46       Q.   Were you working, or were you on leave?

        47       A.   I was - I attended the office.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What does that answer mean?

         3       A.   Well, I - it would help, Commissioner, if I explained

         4       what happened in 1999 in BHP - why that helps to explain my

         5       answer as to what I was doing.  Is it appropriate,

         6       Commissioner?

         7

         8       Q.   Yes.

         9       A.   Oil prices started the year about $10 a barrel and

        10       finished the year at about $20 a barrel, so the average oil

        11       price was around $15 a barrel.  BHP had lost a lot of money

        12       on Magma, HPI project, the Big Bear oil field in Vietnam.

        13       We went through a series of restructurings - a multitude of

        14       restructurings - to the point where I was laying off people

        15       in my own team, and the message would come that the

        16       restructurings weren't - we weren't deep enough, so we had

        17       to cut down more and more, which we did.

        18

        19            Eventually it got to the point where I was the only

        20       person on the floor in the office in Collins Street.  The

        21       janitor came down one day and asked if he'd isolate my

        22       office and turn the lights off the rest of the floor, which

        23       I agreed to, and they ultimately found me a position at the

        24       head office.  I was basically what they classified as a

        25       lost soul in the organisation.  I wasn't doing anything.  I

        26       was told just to sit tight until when things improved -

        27       enjoy the downtime, when things improve, we'll find you

        28       another spot.  That was okay for a couple of weeks, but

        29       this went on for a long time and eventually I found other

        30       lost souls.  I think there was about 10 of us in total

        31       floating around the organisation doing nothing.

        32

        33            I tried to seek other employment within the company

        34       and went and talked to all the heads of the various

        35       divisions looking for jobs, but they obviously had problems

        36       in downsizing their business as well, and they had -

        37       weren't looking to employ people.  So I was just lost.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In late May 2000 were you seeing Mr Harley

        40       in connection with your work at BHP?

        41       A.   Mr Harley was the only person that really - by that

        42       time that I was able to have any conversations with, and I

        43       think he was completely aware of my predicament.

        44

        45       Q.   So were you seeing him regularly in late May 2000?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   Were you seeing him at all in late May 2000?

         2       A.   I may have seen him in late May 2000, but I didn't see

         3       him regularly.  I was just lost in the organisation.

         4

         5       Q.   Where was his office in relation to yours?

         6       A.   I think he may - I'm not sure, actually.  I think he

         7       may have been up on some of the executive floors.  He

         8       wasn't on the floor that I was on.

         9

        10       Q.   In the same building in Collins Street?

        11       A.   No, by then I think Collins Street had been closed.

        12       That's where the Petroleum office was.  Oh, well, I think

        13       BHP - maybe Superannuation stayed up in Collins Street, but

        14       I think he was down in Bourke Street as well at that time.

        15       I'm not - I can't be certain.

        16

        17       Q.   But in the same building as you?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Whilst you were still at BHP were you aware of any

        21       application that BHP had made concerning the shipment of

        22       wheat to Iraq in 1996, such application being made to DFAT?

        23       A.   In 2000?

        24

        25       Q.   In 2000.

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       Q.   Were you aware of any advice that Mr Harley, on behalf

        29       of BHP, had received from DFAT on the issue as to whether

        30       or not the shipment of grain to the Iraqis in 1996 might

        31       not be regarded as a gift but be regarded as an arrangement

        32       whereby the Iraqis had agreed to pay within five years?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you ever become aware of any communication to DFAT

        36       or any communication from DFAT - that's to DFAT by BHP or

        37       from DFAT to BHP - touching upon that subject matter?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   I was asking you about the Tigris matter.  In terms of

        41       moving through the chronology of events, I had asked you

        42       about an email that you sent to Mr Davidson Kelly on

        43       16 October 2000 which concluded with your statement:

        44

        45            My reading of the Baghdad discussions is

        46            that if Sadallah was to confirm our

        47            interpretation, this would assist the
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         1            process, however, if Sadallah runs around

         2            saying it was a gift, then it is going to

         3            be tough.

         4

         5       The next matter in the chronology that I want to bring you

         6       to in relation to this shipment of wheat is Mr Norman

         7       Davidson Kelly's fax to you, which you have already seen,

         8       of 26 October 2000.  Could we bring up, please,

         9       AWB.0129.0151.  This is the fax which covered a copy of the

        10       letter that we've seen of 21 June 1996, which is unsigned,

        11       and about which you have said you don't know whether it was

        12       sent to Zuhair Daoud or not.  Do you recall the letter?

        13       A.   I recall seeing the letter yesterday, yes.

        14

        15       Q.   In what circumstances did Mr Davidson Kelly send you a

        16       copy of that letter of 21 June 1996 on 26 October 2000?

        17       A.   I imagine it was to explain the history of the

        18       transaction.

        19

        20       Q.   Well, had you spoken to him about the matter and did

        21       you ask him to remind you about it and was it in that

        22       context that he sent you the letter of 21 June 1996?

        23       A.   It may have been.

        24

        25       Q.   Mr Stott, when did you last speak to

        26       Mr Davidson Kelly - that is, last as from today?

        27       A.   I think it would have been around the time that our

        28       solicitors, ABL, indicated that they wanted to talk to

        29       Mr Davidson Kelly.

        30

        31       Q.   When was that?

        32       A.   I think it might have been November 2005.

        33

        34       Q.   You haven't spoken to him since then?

        35       A.   I don't recall speaking to him since then.

        36

        37       Q.   Have you had any email or other form of communication

        38       with him since then?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you speak to him in November 2005?

        42       A.   That's what I just said.

        43

        44       Q.   What did you speak to him about?

        45       A.   That ABL were the company's solicitors, they had

        46       indicated that they wanted to talk to him, and I was, at

        47       ABL's request, notifying him to expect a call from the ABL
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         1       solicitors about this matter and advising him of the two

         2       solicitors that were likely to call him.

         3

         4       Q.   Was that the total substance of your conversation with

         5       him?

         6       A.   Well, it was about this matter, and it was about the

         7       substance of my conversation with him.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you speak to him on that occasion about this

        10       shipment of wheat to the Iraqis and the recovery of the

        11       Tigris debt?

        12       A.   Well, I told him that that's obviously what the

        13       solicitors were interested in talking to him about.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you discuss it with him?

        16       A.   No, I did not.

        17

        18       Q.   You mentioned that subject matter only as a matter

        19       that the solicitors wanted to talk to him about --

        20       A.   Yes, I did.

        21

        22       Q.   -- and that was all that was said about that matter?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   How long before then had you spoken to

        26       Mr Davidson Kelly?

        27       A.   Jim Cooper wanted to speak to Norman Davidson Kelly

        28       when the legal department was examining the Tigris matter,

        29       and Jim came around and asked if he could have

        30       Mr Davidson Kelly's telephone number.  I think I rang

        31       Mr Davidson Kelly in Jim's presence, introducing Jim, and

        32       said that Jim wanted to speak to him about this matter, and

        33       those two may have had subsequent phone conversations that

        34       I was not party to.

        35

        36       Q.   When was that, that conversation between you and

        37       Mr Davidson Kelly where you introduced Mr Cooper?

        38       A.   I don't recall the precise date.  It would be

        39       sometime - I just don't recall when the date was.  Sorry,

        40       Mr Agius.

        41

        42       Q.   Was it days, weeks, months or years before November of

        43       last year?

        44       A.   It was when Jim Cooper was seeking advice or seeking

        45       to examine the history of the MV Ikan Sepat, and I don't -

        46       it could have been - I just don't recall when that

        47       conversation was, but I know that Jim kept very good notes
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         1       and would no doubt be able to confirm from his diary that

         2       date.  I just don't recall, I'm sorry.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Was it before the Volcker Inquiry?

         5       A.   I just don't recall, Commissioner.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you spoke to Mr Davidson Kelly in

         8       November of last year and told him that the solicitors

         9       wanted to speak to him, what was Mr Davidson Kelly's

        10       response?

        11       A.   He said he was happy to speak to the solicitors.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   I cannot find a reference to the tender of this

        14       document.  It may be that I have tendered it,

        15       AWB.0129.0151.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's exhibit 209.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.

        20

        21       Q.   The next document that we have in the chronology is

        22       AWB.0103.0071.  It's a letter of 10 May 2001 to you from

        23       Mr Davidson Kelly.  You received that letter from

        24       Mr Davidson Kelly?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   I'll tender it.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's exhibit 227.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0103.0074.

        32       This is a letter from you to Mr Yousif Abdul Rahman of

        33       16 May 2001?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   You say:

        37

        38            We have received the attached

        39            correspondence from Norman

        40            Davidson Kelly...

        41            Would be grateful if you would pass the

        42            letter on to the appropriate authorities

        43            for their consideration.

        44

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Did you include with your letter of 16 May 2001
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         1       Mr Davidson Kelly's letter to you of 10 May 2001?

         2       A.   I imagine that we did.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I tender the letter of 16 May 2001.

         5

         6       EXHIBIT #257 LETTER DATED 16/5/2001 TO MR YOUSIF ABDUL

         7       RAHMAN FROM CHARLES STOTT, BARCODED AWB.0103.0074

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0129.0093.

        10       If we could go to the next page, 0094.  You see that it's

        11       apparent that you were copied into this correspondence,

        12       Mr Stott, from the last line on page 0094?

        13       A.   I can see that I was copied in on this correspondence.

        14

        15       Q.   Could we go back to page 0093 and could I ask you to

        16       read the letter.

        17       A.   Certainly.  Is this an AWB document?

        18

        19       Q.   AWB was the source of this letter, yes.

        20       A.   I don't recall seeing this letter.

        21

        22       Q.   Given that AWB was the source of this letter, is it

        23       likely that you did receive it?

        24       A.   I'm cced on it and it was the source of it, although

        25       the letter is not signed, so --

        26

        27       Q.   The letter is not directed to you.  It's cced to you.

        28       It may be that you were sent an unsigned copy, the signed

        29       copy having been sent to Mr Aiken, a person to whom the

        30       letter was sent, or addressed, but if this came from the

        31       sources of AWB, is it not likely that you would have

        32       received it?

        33       A.   Yes, it would be.  If it came from the AWB, it is

        34       likely that I would have received it, but I don't recall

        35       it.

        36

        37       Q.   Could we go to the bottom of the first page, 0093.

        38       Mr Davidson Kelly says:

        39

        40            ...if we get the 'green light' on Saturday,

        41            I expect the actual repayment process to be

        42            complicated.  I suspect that the actual

        43            repayments will be linked to shipments of

        44            Australian Wheat and therefore made over a

        45            period of time.

        46

        47       Had you had a prior discussion with Mr Davidson Kelly about
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         1       linking the repayments to shipments of wheat?

         2       A.   No.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you know whether anybody else had?

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   The letter of 10 May to you from Mr Davidson Kelly

         8       says nothing about linking the repayment to shipments of

         9       wheat - will you take my word for that?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And that was the letter that you believed you had

        13       forwarded to the Iraqis under cover of your letter of

        14       16 May.  By 21 May, which is 11 days after

        15       Mr Davidson Kelly's letter to you, and five days after your

        16       letter to Mr Yousif Abdul Rahman, Mr Davidson Kelly is

        17       speaking of a suspicion that actual payments would be

        18       linked to shipments of Australian wheat made over a period

        19       of time.  Is it not likely that he would have had such a

        20       discussion with you prior to 21 May 2001?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you say that you definitely did not have any such

        24       discussion with him?

        25       A.   I don't recall a discussion with him on this subject.

        26       I don't recall that.

        27

        28       Q.   Can you recall anything passing between you - or,

        29       indeed, anything at all - which might have given him to

        30       believe, or to have the suspicion, that actual payments

        31       would be linked to shipments of Australian wheat, and

        32       therefore made over a period of time, as early as 21 May

        33       2001?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   Is that a concept that you had in mind as at 21 May

        37       2001?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   We know that at the end of the day the plan that was

        41       proposed, and, indeed, put into action, was that the actual

        42       repayments were linked to shipments of Australian wheat and

        43       made over a period of time.  Have you anything to say about

        44       the congruity of this suspicion that Mr Davidson Kelly had

        45       on 21 May 2001 and what actually happened in 2003?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   Have you any idea as to why it was that you were

         2       copied in on this letter?

         3       A.   Being the global manager of our export operations, I

         4       assume that's why he may have copied me in on that letter.

         5

         6       Q.   It seems that he had the intention of telling you of

         7       his suspicion that the actual repayments would be linked to

         8       shipments of Australian wheat and therefore made over a

         9       period of time.  With that in mind, would you think over

        10       whether or not you and he had discussed that?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   So if you had received this letter - I'm just putting

        14       that to you as a possibility, if you had received it - does

        15       that mean that the first you would have known about the

        16       suspicion that payments would be linked to shipments of

        17       wheat and made over a period of time would have been when

        18       you read it in this letter?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Do you recall ever contacting Mr Davidson Kelly on or

        22       after 21 May 2001 and discussing with him any suspicion

        23       that he had that that would be the way in which the Tigris

        24       debt, or the debt in relation to this wheat, would be met?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       Q.   Is it likely that, if you'd read this letter on

        28       21 May, or thereabouts, you would have contacted him and

        29       asked him what he meant by that?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   Or how it was that he had come to say that to the

        33       President and CEO Petroleum of BHP Billiton?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   Would you not have been concerned that

        37       Mr Davidson Kelly was saying that to Mr Aiken as at 21 May

        38       2001 in the absence of any prior conversation with you?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   Why not?

        42       A.   Mr Davidson Kelly was visiting Iraq, contacting

        43       various people, and it was not my responsibility ultimately

        44       to be concerned with the detail.  I had pushed this down to

        45       my managers to follow on - follow up, I beg your pardon.

        46

        47       Q.   You see, this suspicion that Mr Davidson Kelly
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         1       expresses clearly involves the AWB, doesn't it?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Would you not have been concerned that

         5       Mr Davidson Kelly was writing of such a thing to Mr Aiken

         6       in circumstances in which you had not on any prior occasion

         7       discussed it with Mr Davidson Kelly?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You said you pushed this down to

        11       the managers to follow on.  What did you mean by that?

        12       A.   When the first letter - when Mr Davidson Kelly first

        13       asked us to assist BHP in presenting the letter which we

        14       discussed yesterday, I asked my manager of the Middle East

        15       to follow it up and, on occasions, Mr Davidson Kelly would

        16       ring me to see if there was any progress reports and I

        17       would ask my manager whether there are any progress reports

        18       and he would alert me to any progress or not and then

        19       ultimately, when I moved out of international sales and

        20       marketing in September 2001, I left the matter to the new

        21       management team to follow up.

        22

        23       Q.   Who was the manager to whom you pushed this down?

        24       A.   It would have been the head of the Middle East area.

        25

        26       Q.   Who was it?

        27       A.   Which was Dom Hogan.

        28

        29       Q.   What did you expect him to do?

        30       A.   Provide any comment or feedback from the Iraqis about

        31       the initial letter.

        32

        33       Q.   Yes, but did you expect him to - did he go to Iraq to

        34       speak with them about this or to negotiate or to do what?

        35       A.   It was really we had provided the letter, which was

        36       consistent, I believe, with the original undertaking that

        37       we would use reasonable endeavours to assist them in their

        38       efforts in Iraq, and I think Australian companies working

        39       together in difficult markets is a sensible thing to do,

        40       particularly when we - environments where our diplomatic

        41       representation had been removed.  So I was comfortable with

        42       assisting where we could.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   I'll tender that letter of 21 May 2001.

        45

        46       EXHIBIT #258 LETTER DATED 21/5/2001 TO PHILIP AIKEN,

        47       BARCODED AWB.0129.0093-0094
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The next document we have is an email from

         3       Mr Davidson Kelly to you of 21 May 2002.  Could we bring

         4       up, please, AWB.0129.0092.  Do you recall seeing that email

         5       before, Mr Stott?

         6       A.   I don't recall receiving this, but I must have

         7       received it because it's addressed to me.  But I don't

         8       recall.

         9

        10       Q.   It refers to the Aiken letter of 21 May 2002, which

        11       you've just seen, and a Ramadan letter of 26 April.  The

        12       email itself records the following:

        13

        14            Copy of a letter to Phil Aiken attached,

        15            and also the letter to HE Ramadan, which

        16            was carefully constructed with our friends

        17            help.

        18

        19       "Friends" is spelt without an apostrophe.  We don't know

        20       whether it was a single friend or a number of friends.

        21

        22       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, could I just raise one matter by

        23       way of correction.  My friend put to the witness that it

        24       attaches the Aiken letter.  It purports to attach an Aiken

        25       letter, but a year later, not the one that was tendered, as

        26       I followed the evidence, as exhibit 257.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   I said that because when we downloaded this

        29       material from the copies that we had been given by AWB, the

        30       first document downloaded was AWB.0129.0092, which is this

        31       document.  The next document downloaded, which was the

        32       attachment to this email, is AWB.0129.0093, which was the

        33       last exhibit.  That's a two-page document.  The next

        34       document downloaded was AWB.0129.0095, which is a letter

        35       dated April 2002 directed to His Excellency Taha Yassin

        36       Ramadan in Baghdad, so I have, for the purpose of the

        37       question, made the assumption that the letter of 21 May

        38       2001, which bears that date, was in fact the attachment to

        39       this email.  We have no other letter from AWB of 21 May

        40       2002 directed to Mr Aiken.  Nor do we have such a letter

        41       from BHP.

        42

        43       MR LACAVA:   I don't want to waste time or be confusing,

        44       Commissioner, but I don't want the witness to be confused

        45       either.  As I followed the evidence this afternoon, exhibit

        46       258 was AWB.0129.0094, not 93.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   This is a two-page document.

         2

         3       Q.   I don't want you to be confused, Mr Stott.  Do you see

         4       that this email that was --

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   0129.0092 is the email.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Which is dated 21 May 2002.  It begins

         9       "Greetings from Bahrain".  It attaches two documents.  One

        10       is said to be "Aiken letter 21 May 2002", the other is said

        11       to be "Ramadan letter 26 April", ".doc".  When that email

        12       was opened by the inquiry, the first document that popped

        13       up was the letter I've just shown you, which bears the date

        14       21 May 2001.  The inquiry doesn't know whether its real

        15       date was 21 May 2001 and it had been misdescribed in this

        16       email or whether its real date was 21 May 2002 and it has

        17       been accurately described in the email.  I had assumed that

        18       in fact it was 21 May 2001 and you were being sent a copy

        19       of it in May 2002.  It may be that you received it for the

        20       first time in May 2002 and the misprint is on the actual

        21       letter itself; do you follow?

        22       A.   Mmm.

        23

        24       Q.   Now, I was asking you about the substance of the email

        25       itself, which refers to "constructed with our friends

        26       help".  Do you know who the reference to "our friends" was?

        27       A.   Mr Agius, I don't remember receiving this email.  I am

        28       prepared to go on the record and say I may not have seen it

        29       until today.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Who else in AWB would have this if

        32       it's addressed to you?

        33       A.   I don't know.  I had moved on.  At times when Iraq was

        34       in difficult situations I would be brought back in because

        35       of my expertise and having lived through so many wars in

        36       Iraq with shipping problems and addressing those problems,

        37       but I was heavily involved in business development

        38       activities, pursuing the growth agenda for the company.  I

        39       moved off international sales and marketing.  My modus

        40       operandi with my secretary was anything to do with

        41       basically international sales and marketing was just

        42       deleted.  I just didn't - do not recall, I can say I did

        43       not receive - well, I can't say I didn't receive, because

        44       it's got my email address on it.  But this may have been

        45       one of the documents that my secretary deleted that I did

        46       not look at.

        47
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         1       Q.   You permitted your secretary to delete documents

         2       without you seeing them?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   What parameters did you put on that authority?

         6       A.   I received a lot of emails and my focus was at this

         7       time on various acquisitions that the company was pursuing,

         8       and my interest was on the pursuit of those acquisitions.

         9       We had a multitude of projects running around this time

        10       where my focus was on that.  Others were looking after

        11       international sales and marketing.

        12

        13       Q.   Well, what's the answer to my question?

        14       A.   I --

        15

        16       Q.   What parameters did you put on the authority that you

        17       gave to your secretary to delete documents without your

        18       seeing them?

        19       A.   Just I gave her the authority to delete documents that

        20       she didn't think were relevant to my interests at that

        21       time.  I worked on the assumption - I worked on the

        22       assumption that anyone who wants to - if a document is

        23       important, then they generally will walk around and talk to

        24       me about the document.  I didn't - every document that I

        25       have received on email I cannot say that I have read or

        26       even opened, because I receive a multitude of documents

        27       that I just don't - that's the way I manage my email.  I

        28       let my secretary manage it.

        29

        30       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly could hardly have walked around to

        31       see you if he was in Bahrain.  Surely an email such as this

        32       attaching letters from somebody who's overseas and not

        33       readily contactable, one might think, would be something

        34       that would have been brought to your attention.

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you give your secretary, then, free rein to delete

        38       any email that did not relate to any acquisition that you

        39       were concerned with at the particular time that the email

        40       arrived?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   That was a very dangerous practice, was it not?

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   So what do you say about this email and the

        47       attachments:  did you read the attachments?
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         1       A.   I don't recall this document.

         2

         3       Q.   You don't recall the email?

         4       A.   I don't recall the email, I don't recall the

         5       attachments.

         6

         7       Q.   Did you know His Excellency Taha Yassin Ramadan?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   You had an interest in the Iraq market, though, did

        11       you not?

        12       A.   Well, I've been the account manager for Iraq, I've

        13       been the Middle East manager.  I was the global manager.

        14       Iraq was an important market.  At various times when we've

        15       had crises in Iraq, I have been involved in Iraq, but my

        16       focus moved off in September 2001 to business development

        17       activities, where the company was pursuing a multitude of

        18       interesting projects, and really I moved out of

        19       international sales and marketing, save for I continued a

        20       directorship of five-star flour mills and stockfeed mills

        21       in Egypt that continued I don't know for how long before I

        22       was taken off the directorship of that and my international

        23       travel basically stopped.  So international activities were

        24       of little interest to me unless someone came and sought my

        25       advice on a particular issue.

        26

        27       Q.   What was the name of the secretary that you had in May

        28       of 2002 who had authority to delete emails without

        29       reference of them to you?

        30       A.   I can't remember what - I've had two secretaries.  I

        31       can't remember which one I would have had in 2000 - at this

        32       time in 2002.

        33

        34       Q.   I'm content to take the names of the two that you can

        35       remember.

        36       A.   My current secretary I don't think was with me in

        37       2002.  I think it was Ms Grant who may have been my

        38       secretary at this time.  But I can't be certain when

        39       Ms Grant left me and my new secretary - my current personal

        40       assistant took over.  I can't be certain of that.

        41

        42       Q.   What's the name of your current assistant?

        43       A.   Corrina.

        44

        45       Q.   Can you spell that?

        46       A.   C-O-R-R-I-N-A.

        47
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         1       Q.   Is that her family name?

         2       A.   No, that's her first name.

         3

         4       Q.   Perhaps you could write her family name down for me.

         5       A.   Certainly.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Might that be marked as a confidential exhibit,

         8       Commissioner.

         9

        10       EXHIBIT #123C PIECE OF PAPER WITH NAME OF MR STOTT'S

        11       CURRENT SECRETARY ON IT

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, you had been with the AWB when

        14       this deal was put together --

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Just before you leave this, would

        17       you mind reading that email now?  Mr Davidson Kelly, in May

        18       2002, obviously thought you would know who "our friends"

        19       were.  Who were they?

        20       A.   I imagine he was probably referring to the BHP

        21       representatives in Iraq.  They had an office in Iraq until

        22       they withdrew from Iraq, and I think that was taken over by

        23       Mr Davidson Kelly, because he took over all - I understand

        24       that he took over all of BHP's interests in Iraq, so I

        25       imagine that is who he would be referring to.

        26

        27       Q.   Where did you get that understanding that he'd taken

        28       over all of BHP's interests in Iraq?

        29       A.   That understanding --

        30

        31       Q.   Where did you get the understanding that

        32       Mr Davidson Kelly had taken over all of BHP's interests in

        33       Iraq?

        34       A.   That has been provided to me in this Commission.

        35

        36       Q.   In this Commission?

        37       A.   In this Commission, where documents have been

        38       presented to me.

        39

        40       Q.   Is that the first time you understood that, when you

        41       saw documents which you saw in the course of this

        42       Commission?

        43       A.   Yes, Commissioner.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, you had been at AWB, or the

        46       Australian Wheat Board, when this deal had been put

        47       together.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   You then went to BHP?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   You then returned to what was now AWB Limited and

         7       received some communications, which we've seen, about the

         8       Tigris debt?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   How is it that, in May of 2002, then, you would have

        12       just cut yourself off from any further developments in

        13       relation to this matter, by giving your secretary

        14       instructions to delete any emails relating to it?

        15       A.   I have a completely different portfolio to look after.

        16       The marketing division was being looked after by another

        17       team.  I had a managing director who was very keen for us

        18       to pursue the growth agenda, and my entire focus was on

        19       growing the business through acquisitions, and that was

        20       my - I was also responsible for strategy for the company

        21       and international sales and marketing, I had basically left

        22       in September 2001 and my focus was just on other matters.

        23       So I was not concerned with what was happening in

        24       international sales and marketing.  Other people were

        25       looking after that activity.  They knew where I was, if

        26       they needed to talk to me.

        27

        28       Q.   Why was this an international sales and marketing

        29       matter rather than your matter at AWB, given that the

        30       approach had been made by Mr Davidson Kelly to you?

        31       A.   An approach was made to AWB.  I was the first

        32       recipient of that approach.  AWB was assisting with it.  I

        33       didn't take on or continue to monitor any of the matters in

        34       international sales and marketing after I left, unless I

        35       was invited to participate, as I was on occasions, in

        36       crisis teams.  Then, on crisis teams, I would become

        37       informed of the current situation in Iraq when we were

        38       dealing with those, but often I wanted to get off those

        39       teams because I was focused on making acquisitions.

        40

        41       Q.   Would you not, prior to having given your secretary

        42       authority to delete emails such as this one, have told

        43       Mr Davidson Kelly that you were no longer concerned in this

        44       aspect of AWB's business and that he should deal with

        45       someone else?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you do that?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you remember doing that?

         5       A.   I remember handing the file over to the - it was left

         6       with the international sales and marketing team.

         7

         8       Q.   Well, what was it?  Did you hand the file over or did

         9       you leave it there?

        10       A.   The file was already there, being managed by Dom, and

        11       it would have been - after I left the new manager was

        12       appointed and he I recall asked me about this and I told

        13       him about the background to it and that was the extent of

        14       the handover.

        15

        16       Q.   What about my question:  had you told

        17       Mr Davidson Kelly that you were no longer concerned in this

        18       aspect of the business and that he should deal with someone

        19       else?

        20       A.   I probably would have rung Mr Davidson Kelly and told

        21       him that, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you remember doing that?

        24       A.   I don't recall doing that, but I would have - I think

        25       I would have introduced Mr Davidson Kelly to - directed him

        26       to the person he needed to talk to.

        27

        28       Q.   Prior to 21 May 2002?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Are you sure of that?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly says at the beginning of this email:

        35

        36            Please remember to let me know when you get

        37            to the Gulf/North Africa region as there is

        38            a chance we can meet up here.

        39

        40       He seems not to realise that you're going to delete his

        41       email.  He's inviting you to catch up with him.  That seems

        42       inconsistent with your having advised him not to deal with

        43       you over this matter, does it not?

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   Come on, Mr Stott.  Doesn't that seem inconsistent to

        47       you to your having advised him that you weren't interested
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         1       in this matter anymore?

         2       A.   Mr Agius, you have my passports.  You have access to

         3       the travel that I was doing.  I'm just basically - apart

         4       from my Egypt missions, as a director of five-star flour

         5       mills, my international travelling stopped.  I was no

         6       longer focused on this aspect.

         7

         8       Q.   What does that have to do with Mr Davidson Kelly

         9       writing to you inviting you to catch up with him in the

        10       Gulf/North Africa region in the circumstances where, if

        11       you're right, you would have already told him that the

        12       matter which is the substance of this email was no longer

        13       your domain and that he should address his material to

        14       somebody else?

        15       A.   I don't know.

        16

        17       Q.   Did he not get the message when you told him?

        18       A.   He got the message.

        19

        20       Q.   Mr Stott, isn't it a nonsense to suggest that, prior

        21       to 21 May, you had told Mr Davidson Kelly not to contact

        22       you anymore about this matter?

        23       A.   No.

        24

        25       Q.   Do you think he just didn't take you at your word?

        26       A.   You'd have to ask Mr Davidson Kelly.  I've told him

        27       who he should talk to on this matter.

        28

        29       Q.   Had you been in Cairo in early May that year?

        30       A.   I may have been in Cairo.

        31

        32       Q.   Is Egypt not in North Africa - it is, isn't it?

        33       A.   Egypt is in North Africa, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly says:

        36

        37            Please remember to let me know when you get

        38            to the Gulf/North Africa region as there is

        39            a chance we can meet up here.

        40

        41       It seems that he doesn't seem to know that you've been in

        42       Cairo, or North Africa, and it seems that he is intending

        43       that you actually would be the recipient of this email.

        44       Isn't that inconsistent with your statement that you had

        45       told him not to contact you about this matter anymore?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   I tender the email, Mr Commissioner, and the

         2       two attachments.

         3

         4       EXHIBIT #259 EMAIL TO CHARLES STOTT FROM MR NORMAN

         5       DAVIDSON KELLY, DATED 21/5/2002, AND TWO ATTACHMENTS,

         6       BARCODED AWB.0129.0092

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we bring up, please, AWB.0129.0097.

         9       This is Mr Davidson Kelly emailing you again in August of

        10       2002, about three months later:

        11

        12            Good to talk to you today.

        13

        14       Do you recall getting this email, Mr Stott?

        15       A.   Can I read the email first, please, before I answer

        16       the question?  Should I start at the top?

        17

        18       Q.   No, start at the bottom.

        19       A.   Yes, I recall this email.

        20

        21       Q.   This is not one that your secretary deleted?

        22       A.   No, it's not.

        23

        24       Q.   How did she know not to delete this one, when she had

        25       been instructed to delete a not dissimilar email three

        26       months before?

        27       A.   Because this was an important issue at the time.  We

        28       were contemplating sending a team into Iraq.

        29

        30       Q.   Mr Stott, how would your secretary know in August 2002

        31       that this was an important email that should not be

        32       deleted, and also be able to decide in May 2002 that that

        33       email was unimportant and could and should be deleted

        34       without reference to you?

        35       A.   Because she was aware that I had discussed this matter

        36       with Norman at this time.

        37

        38       Q.   But you had told Norman not to talk to you about this

        39       matter anymore and that it had been passed on to someone

        40       else.

        41       A.   This is a different matter I was discussing with

        42       Norman.  This was not --

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   This was about Tigris.

        45       A.   This is not about Tigris, this subject.  I can help

        46       the Commission if you'd like and explain further to give

        47       you some context about this matter in which it is in
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         1       relation to, if that would be helpful.

         2

         3       Q.   Yes, go on.

         4       A.   At around this time, in 2002, around this date, we

         5       were contemplating sending in a high-level delegation into

         6       Iraq to help sort through the problems of our shipping

         7       issues that had been affected because our vessels had been

         8       rejected at discharge port.  At this time there were - the

         9       drums of war were beating.  Weapons of mass destruction,

        10       the war is about to occur.  Now, if I go back in history to

        11       August 1990, when sanctions were first put on Iraq, on

        12       6 August 1990, Iraq's response to sanctions at August 1990

        13       was to close its borders.  We ended up with four hostages

        14       inside the borders of Iraq that could not move in or out of

        15       the country.  We had four people stuck in Iraq for several

        16       months.  I was responsible for negotiating their release.

        17

        18            At the end of that hostage crisis we reviewed the way

        19       we handled that hostage crisis.  The hostages said the best

        20       thing - the one thing they needed - the Australian

        21       Government had representation in Iraq at that time, which

        22       was very helpful.  They had contacts with the IGB, which

        23       were ministry government officials, which was very helpful.

        24       But the one thing they needed and wanted was local

        25       contacts.  If they had local contacts and something went

        26       wrong, they thought that they might have plotted an escape

        27       from Iraq by crossing the desert.  So when we're sending in

        28       a senior-level delegation, we now no longer have

        29       representation in Iraq from an embassy perspective, because

        30       that's out of the country, we're sending our most senior

        31       management team into Iraq, and I asked Norman for contacts

        32       in case the war started, which was imminent, or being

        33       talked about being imminent, but it ended up ultimately

        34       starting in March 2003 - I asked Norman for some contact

        35       details of people that if something goes wrong and our team

        36       gets stranded or needs some local assistance, who can they

        37       contact.  So I saw this as a mechanism with Norman of

        38       ensuring that our people had all the appropriate levels of

        39       contacts, because BHP had extensive contacts in Iraq and I

        40       wanted to tap into that in case something went wrong.  That

        41       is the purpose of this email.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Sabah was Mr Davidson Kelly's agent in

        44       Iraq; is that right?

        45       A.   I believe that agent or representative - I think he

        46       might have been BHP's representative in Iraq, or it could

        47       have been agent, I'm not sure exactly of what his title
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         1       was, but he was certainly there to assist BHP, and I

         2       understood employed by BHP.

         3

         4       Q.   He was apparently in York in England and you, in this

         5       email, were given the contact details of his partner,

         6       Mr Azzawi?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Who were the other friends of Sabah referred to in

        10       paragraph 2?

        11       A.   I don't know.

        12

        13       Q.   Paragraphs 3 and 4 relate to the Tigris debt, don't

        14       they?

        15       A.   They do.

        16

        17       Q.   We'll need to go over the page.

        18       A.   They do.

        19

        20       Q.   Have you read that?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   What were the issues in relation to your dealings in

        24       country referred to in paragraph 3?

        25       A.   We had at that time the issue of the contractual

        26       problems with Iraq.  There was a concern that our ships

        27       were not being discharged, and it's that context that I

        28       explained to Mr Davidson Kelly why we were sending our

        29       delegation in at that time.  We were very reluctant to send

        30       in the delegation at that time.  Andrew Lindberg insisted

        31       on going.  We lobbied him vigorously not to go, but he saw

        32       it as his responsibility and duty to go in and try and

        33       resolve the issue.  It was the subject of much debate and I

        34       had explained to Norman that this was the context of

        35       sending in a delegation and we needed - for security

        36       reasons, we had Control Risk supporting the delegation, and

        37       Control Risk is a first-class company, but recalling what

        38       happened to the hostages, I was looking to ensure that we

        39       had additional contacts in the event that the Control Risk

        40       level of contacts were not going to suffice.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you maintain an interest in this Tigris matter

        43       after 7 August 2002, which is the date of these emails?

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   You said in response to Mr Davidson Kelly that you

        47       were "Happy for the team to be armed with a letter for you
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         1       to table if things are going well but on the other-hand if

         2       the environment is not conducive to it being tabled then

         3       best to keep it in their pockets for a better occasion."

         4       What you were referring to there were the negotiations that

         5       you understood would take place about the claims of

         6       contaminated wheat; is that right?

         7       A.   No, Norman --

         8

         9       Q.   That if the negotiations were going well, you'd table

        10       the letter --

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   -- but if they were not going well, then it might be

        14       advisable not to table them?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   But the environment that you're referring to is the

        18       environment that would surround the negotiations over the

        19       claims that wheat had been contaminated?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Because this was costing AWB a lot of money?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   There were ships being held up in Umm Qasr?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Because of what AWB regarded as, at best, bogus claims

        29       of contaminated wheat.

        30       A.   The UN --

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   That's the reply that you're being

        33       asked about.

        34       A.   Sorry, I hadn't seen the reply.  Sorry, Mr Agius, what

        35       was the question?  I've just finished reading that.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I was putting to you the circumstances

        38       that AWB faced in Iraq at that time.  There were ships

        39       being held up --

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   -- it was costing AWB a lot of money, and there were

        43       claims that could at best be described as bogus about

        44       contamination of the wheat.

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   You agree with that?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   That's why this high-level team was going in, to

         4       negotiate over the claims of contamination in the wheat and

         5       the claims for compensation that the Iraqis were making?

         6       A.   The team was going in to try and find the problem.  I

         7       do not know if the team was going in to negotiate a

         8       solution.  The team was going in to sort out enormous

         9       contractual difficulties at the discharge port that we had

        10       over the contamination issue.  So I was not aware whether

        11       the team was going to be negotiating anything.  The team

        12       was going in to discover what the problem was, with an

        13       attempt to find a solution.  I was not a party to any

        14       discussions on negotiations.

        15

        16       Q.   To find a solution to a commercial dispute?

        17       A.   Find a solution to the shipping problems that we had

        18       at Umm Qasr.

        19

        20       Q.   And your concern was that, should war break out whilst

        21       the team was there, the team ought to be able to contact

        22       somebody in Iraq?

        23       A.   Exactly.

        24

        25       Q.   Somebody aside from the Australian diplomats in

        26       Jordan?

        27       A.   They're in Jordan.  If war was to break out and our

        28       team was in Iraq, the diplomats in Jordan are going to be

        29       of no value to the team in Iraq.

        30

        31       Q.   But the agent Mr Khadim Azzawi would be?

        32       A.   The experiences that we had in the hostage crisis that

        33       I was the principal negotiator for back in August 1990 when

        34       we got stuck with hostages there, the principal outcome of

        35       that meeting was - well, actually the HR manager at the

        36       time criticised me personally because he felt that I should

        37       have worked out that war was imminent and therefore I

        38       should have known that Iraq was going to close its borders,

        39       but the one thing that I recall vividly from that is that

        40       the team wanted local contacts if something went wrong, and

        41       that's what I was arming this delegation with, because we

        42       were sending another delegation into Iraq under similar

        43       tones when the war drums were getting louder and louder and

        44       subsequently war started five months after, or thereabouts,

        45       in March 2003.  So this was a very, very difficult time for

        46       the company.

        47
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         1       Q.   A lot of water passed under the bridge between August

         2       2002 and March of 2003.  Do you suggest that war was

         3       imminent in August 2002?

         4       A.   Absolutely war was imminent.  The US, the coalition of

         5       the willing, spent about 18 months preparing the world for

         6       war.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two emails, AWB.0129.0097 and

         9       0098.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #260 EMAIL FROM MR DAVIDSON KELLY TO MR STOTT IN

        12       AUGUST 2002, TOGETHER WITH MR STOTT'S RESPONSE,

        13       BARCODED AWB.0129.0097-98

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   The next matter in the chronology is an email

        16       from Mr Long to Mr Davidson Kelly, which was copied to you,

        17       AWB.0129.0100.  I tender that, Mr Commissioner.

        18

        19       EXHIBIT #261 EMAIL FROM MR LONG TO MR DAVIDSON KELLY,

        20       COPIED TO MR STOTT, BARCODED AWB.0129.0100

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:    The next is an email from Mr Davidson Kelly to

        23       Mr Long, copied to you, on 10 August 2002, AWB.0129.0099.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   What date?

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   The email at the top of the page is 12 August

        28       2002, and Mr Davidson Kelly's email, the second on the

        29       page, is 10 August 2002.

        30

        31       EXHIBIT #262 EMAIL FROM MR DAVIDSON KELLY TO MR LONG,

        32       COPIED TO MR STOTT, DATED 10/8/2002 AND EMAIL FROM

        33       MS ROBERTSON TO MR EDMONDS-WILSON, DATED 12/8/2002,

        34       BARCODED AWB.0129.0099

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Was this email deleted, Mr Stott, or did

        37       you read this one?

        38       A.   I don't recall reading this email, Mr Agius.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:  Q.   The next is one from Mr Long to you of 12

        41       August 2002 at 2.45pm, AWB.0129.0100.  That was copied to

        42       you, Mr Stott.  Did you read that?

        43       A.   I don't recall reading that.  Because a document is

        44       copied to me doesn't mean I've read it, Mr Agius.

        45

        46       Q.   That's why I'm asking you whether you read it.  There

        47       are two more in the chronology which are not directed to
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         1       you but I will deal with them in this chronology,

         2       AWB.0129.0104, an email from Mr Whitwell to Messrs Long,

         3       Hogan, Edmonds-Wilson, copied to others, forwarding an

         4       email that Mr Whitwell had sent to the IGB?

         5       A.   I'm not copied on that, am I?

         6

         7       Q.  No.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I tender that email.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #263 EMAIL FROM MR WHITWELL TO MESSRS LONG, HOGAN,

        12       EDMONDS-WILSON AND COPIED TO OTHERS, BARCODED AWB.0129.0104

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   The next is an email from the IGB to Mr Hogan

        15       of 5 September 2002, AWB.0129.0105.  I tender that.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #264 EMAIL FROM IGB TO MR HOGAN, DATED 5/9/2002,

        18       BARCODED AWB.0129.0105

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could you bring up, please, AWB.0129.0106.

        21       It's an email from Mr Long of 11 September 2002 to

        22       Mr Davidson Kelly, copied to you, amongst others.  Had you

        23       had a discussion with Mr Long as to an angle to assist

        24       Mr Davidson Kelly with the debt recovery?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       Q.   Had you read that email when it was copied to you?

        28       A.   I don't recall reading the email.

        29

        30       Q.   Is it likely that that had been deleted without you

        31       reading it?

        32       A.   I don't read - I read a lot of the emails that are

        33       directed to me, but I don't read ones that are cced to me.

        34       I receive a multitude of emails copied - I don't - just

        35       because something has been emailed to me, it doesn't mean

        36       that I have read it.  Most probably I would not read cced

        37       emails, particularly when I'm not involved in the market at

        38       this time.  At this particular point in time I'm focused on

        39       the acquisition of one of my major competitors, and I was

        40       working with the organisation to negotiate the acquisition

        41       of a stake in one of my major competitors.  Mr Agius, I was

        42       very busy focused on other things.  I had many, many

        43       documents coming to me, and trying to get board approvals

        44       for acquisitions is not an easy task.

        45

        46       Q.   You were a member of the corporate risk committee,

        47       though, weren't you?
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         1       A.   I was when I was in international sales and marketing.

         2       I did not attend the corporate risk committee after I left

         3       international sales and marketing.

         4

         5       Q.   Were you a member of the corporate risk committee in

         6       September 2002?

         7       A.   No.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Could we bring up exhibit 23, AWB.0129.0116.

        10

        11       Q.   Did you receive that memorandum?

        12       A.   No.

        13

        14       Q.   Insofar as that memorandum refers to the wheat on

        15       board the MV Ikan Sepat, were you aware of the information

        16       referred to in that memorandum concerning that subject

        17       matter?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Were you aware of the first paragraph?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   You were not aware that during 1995-1996 BHP agreed to

        24       provide US$5m worth of Australian wheat to the IGB as a

        25       gesture of good faith in view of BHP's desire to enter the

        26       Iraqi oil market?

        27       A.   I know that during 1995-1996 BHP agreed to provide

        28       US$5m worth of Australian wheat, I would put a full stop

        29       there.  I don't agree with the rest of the sentence.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you agree with the second sentence?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Were you not aware of what's in the third paragraph?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Were you aware of what's in the fourth paragraph?

        38

        39       MR LACAVA:   What time is my learned friend inquiring of

        40       the witness's state of knowledge?

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   As at September 2002.

        43

        44       THE WITNESS:   No.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   As at September 2002, were you aware of

        47       any of the information in the fourth paragraph?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You were aware of the first

         4       sentence, weren't you.  You told me about it several times

         5       yesterday.

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   You were not aware of an acknowledgment by the AWB

         9       that it would assist --

        10       A.   The first sentence of that paragraph, Commissioner,

        11       "The AWB has agreed to pay US" - we didn't discuss that

        12       yesterday.

        13

        14       Q.   No, paragraph four, the previous paragraph - that's

        15       the paragraph you're being asked about, "AWB has always

        16       acknowledged", et cetera.

        17       A.   No, we didn't discuss that - we discussed extensively

        18       yesterday that we would assist - provide reasonable

        19       endeavours, but I don't believe that I agree with the

        20       statement as written there.

        21

        22       Q.   I see.  What part of the first sentence don't you

        23       agree with?

        24       A.   "AWB has always acknowledged it would assist", full

        25       stop there.

        26

        27       Q.   Assist in what way?

        28       A.   BHP --

        29

        30       Q.   In relation to what?

        31       A.   In its --

        32

        33       Q.   Would assist in relation to what?

        34       A.   In its endeavours in Iraq.

        35

        36       Q.   Endeavours in Iraq?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What endeavours - drilling for oil;

        40       building ports; selling steel?  What endeavours?

        41       A.   Well, BHP's primary interest at that time was oil,

        42       although at one point there were discussions with BHP Steel

        43       about rebuilding Iraq's railway infrastructure, and that

        44       was very early before this.

        45

        46       Q.   Do you mean that you were aware that AWB had always

        47       acknowledged that it would assist BHP in all of its
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         1       endeavours?

         2       A.   No, AWB had acknowledged it would assist BHP in its

         3       endeavours.

         4

         5       Q.   What endeavours, Mr Stott - endeavours in Iraq?

         6       A.   BHP was trying to pursue opportunities in Iraq.  BHP

         7       saw Iraq as an area where there were significant

         8       undeveloped oil resources, and rather than - there are two

         9       ways for a petroleum company or a mining company to replace

        10       its depleting resources - that is, either wildcat, when you

        11       go out and drill up wells or geological areas of interest,

        12       or through business development activities.  In the case of

        13       Iraq the oil resources were known, Iraq's doors had

        14       always - not always, had been closed for many years, and

        15       now they were encouraging foreign investors to come in.

        16       So, you know, two Australian companies - trying to work in

        17       a difficult market together is a logical thing for two

        18       Australian companies working in global markets to do.

        19

        20       Q.   What endeavours in Iraq did you believe AWB had always

        21       acknowledged it would assist BHP in?

        22       A.   Pursuing its interests.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, I don't have the

        25       transcript reference in front of me, but I thought

        26       yesterday we spent some time going through this aspect of

        27       the Tigris transaction and I thought you said on several

        28       occasions that you regarded it as part of AWB's obligation

        29       to assist BHP - or Tigris, as it turned out to be - in the

        30       recovery of this money.  My memory may be wrong, but I

        31       thought you said it not once but several times.

        32       A.   I understood that we said yesterday that we would

        33       assist BHP in 1995, when the cargo was placed in Iraq and

        34       BHP funded that cargo through the third party owner

        35       mechanism, that we would have - provide reasonable

        36       endeavours to assist them, and that was not - that was

        37       open.  It was not to - it was not clear at that time,

        38       Commissioner, what that would be.  It was open, because it

        39       was not clear how BHP were ever going to get a benefit from

        40       that negotiation.  It was not pre-determined.  It was open,

        41       and at some later stage there were many, many options in

        42       front of BHP, and we did spend a lot of time on that, and I

        43       know it's not - it wasn't precise in 1995.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  Yes, Mr Agius.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   By this date, though, by September 2002,
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         1       it was precise, wasn't it?  It was assisting Tigris in

         2       recovering a sum of money on account of the provision of

         3       the wheat in 1995-1996?

         4       A.   I was not party - I did not receive this letter, so I

         5       was not party to the discussions in the company at this

         6       point in time on this subject.  So --

         7

         8       Q.   I understand that, Mr Stott.  Would you not agree

         9       that, by September of 2002, you were aware that AWB was

        10       assisting Tigris in the recovery of a sum of money on

        11       account of the provision of the wheat in 1995-1996?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Would you have a look at this letter, please, which is

        15       dated 27 May 1996.  It's a letter from the Department of

        16       Foreign Affairs to Mr Harley at BHP Petroleum.  Did you see

        17       that letter in or about May of 1996?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Was your answer no?

        21       A.   Can I just read the letter to make sure, please,

        22       Mr Agius?

        23

        24       Q.   No, I just thought you'd answered "no"?

        25       A.   Well, I did.

        26

        27       Q.   That's what the transcript says?

        28       A.   I did answer no, but I haven't read the letter.

        29

        30       Q.   Do you want to withdraw that answer?

        31       A.   I would like to read the letter first before I provide

        32       the answer, so, yes, I would like to withdraw that answer,

        33       please.

        34

        35       Q.   Please read the letter.  That's why I passed it to

        36       you.

        37       A.   I may have seen this letter, Mr Agius.  I have not

        38       seen it since.

        39

        40       Q.   In about May of 1996?

        41       A.   I may have.  I haven't seen this letter - if I have

        42       seen it in 1996, I have not seen it since May of 1996, but

        43       I may have seen this letter.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   I tender the letter, Mr Commissioner.

        46

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #266 LETTER DATED 27/5/1996 FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF

         2       FOREIGN AFFAIRS TO MR HARLEY AT BHP PETROLEUM

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The letter says:

         5

         6            When Ms Grant-Thomson and I discussed

         7            issues affecting Iraq with your colleagues

         8            (Mr Stott and Mr Lyons) on 22 May, we

         9            promised you a substantive reply on

        10            questions related to the shipment of wheat

        11            against a five-year letter of credit.  This

        12            letter provides those replies.

        13

        14       Just to put this in a temporal context, by 27 May 1996 the

        15       wheat had been delivered, had it not?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you and Mr Lyons meet with Ms Grant-Thomson and

        19       the author of this letter, Mr Pierce, on 22 May 1996.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you have a copy that could be put on

        22       the screen?

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   I apologise.  I thought I had provided it.

        25

        26       Q.   I'm just dealing with the first paragraph.  Did you

        27       and Mr Lyons meet with Ms Grant-Thomson and Mr Pierce from

        28       the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade on 22 May 1996?

        29       A.   We may have.

        30

        31       Q.   I'm sorry?

        32       A.   We may have.

        33

        34       Q.   Do you accept what is said in the first paragraph,

        35       that you did?

        36       A.   I don't have any diaries from that period.  I can't be

        37       certain, Mr Agius, but we may have met, and I have met

        38       Mr Pierce on a number of occasions.  I don't actually

        39       recall Ms Grant-Thomson, but I do recall Mr Pierce.

        40

        41       Q.   Do you recall, in the company of Mr Lyons, posing

        42       questions relating to the shipment of wheat against a

        43       five-year letter of credit?

        44       A.   I recall discussions with Mr Lyons on this matter

        45       around that time.

        46

        47       Q.   Do you recall, in the company of Mr Lyons, posing
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         1       questions relating to the shipment of wheat against a

         2       five-year letter of credit to officers of the Department of

         3       Foreign Affairs and Trade?

         4       A.   I recall we may have had some discussions with the

         5       Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade about this subject

         6       in or around this date, 1996.

         7

         8       Q.   In this letter the Department of Foreign Affairs and

         9       Trade advise that, having carefully and thoroughly

        10       considered all the implications, ministers have decided not

        11       to endorse the proposal that some wheat be shipped against

        12       payment by a five-year letter of credit, and they therefore

        13       decided that no submission containing any such proposal

        14       should be put to the UN sanctions committee.  Was that

        15       information that you'd been provided during the course of a

        16       meeting with DFAT officers?

        17       A.   It may have been, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   The letter goes on:

        20

        21            Second, your colleagues --

        22

        23       which I take to be a reference to you and Mr Lyons --

        24

        25            raised questions about the export of 20,833

        26            metric tonnes of wheat to Iraq which took

        27            place in January 1996.  This export took

        28            place pursuant to a permission granted

        29            under Regulation 13CA of the Customs

        30            (Prohibited Exports) Regulations dated

        31            31 December 1995.  This permission was

        32            granted on the basis of a notification to

        33            the UNSC Iraq sanctions committee dated

        34            16 November 1995.  That notification

        35            indicated that the method of payment would

        36            be "cash payment to be received through

        37            third parties."

        38

        39       Does that statement of facts reflect your understanding of

        40       the position?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   The DFAT letter goes on:

        44

        45            We now understand that BHP was the third

        46            party, which paid for the export of this

        47            wheat to Iraq.
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         1

         2       If we go to the next paragraph:

         3

         4            I understand from your colleagues that

         5            there is some thought being given to ways

         6            in which BHP's gift of wheat to Iraq might

         7            be re-formulated as a credit arrangement

         8            (whether on a five year term or different

         9            terms), or in a way which otherwise

        10            (possibly by payment in kind or in

        11            political goodwill) give BHP "value" for

        12            the gift.

        13

        14       Is that a matter that you and Mr Lyons discussed with

        15       officers of DFAT in May of 1996?

        16       A.   It appears to be.

        17

        18       Q.   Do you acknowledge that the advice that was obtained

        19       from DFAT, then, is included in the last two paragraphs of

        20       this letter in relation to that issue, and that the

        21       substance of that advice was that there was no way in which

        22       BHP's gift of wheat to Iraq might be reformulated as a

        23       credit arrangement?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   In particular, DFAT said:

        27

        28            To change the method of payment from a gift

        29            arrangement to a credit arrangement would

        30            change the nature of the transaction so

        31            that it no longer came within the category

        32            notified to the sanctions committee.

        33

        34            The department takes the view that, if the

        35            gift arrangement were re-formulated into a

        36            credit arrangement, the requirement of

        37            notification and disclosure to the UNSC

        38            sanctions committee would not have been

        39            met.  That would not be acceptable

        40            procedure.  As far as the department is

        41            concerned, the sale in January is a closed

        42            matter and must remain closed, with the

        43            shipment having been sent and received in

        44            the terms notified to the UNSC.

        45

        46       That's what you were told in May of 1996?

        47       A.   Yes, that's what's been told in this letter addressed
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         1       to Mr Harley.

         2

         3       Q.   Which you think you probably read?

         4       A.   Yes, I think I probably read this let

         5

         6       Q.   How, then, did you permit the AWB to be party to an

         7       arrangement whereby Tigris was assisted to obtain from the

         8       Iraqis a sum of money in relation to a matter which you had

         9       been told by DFAT was a closed matter and must remain

        10       closed with the shipment having been sent and received in

        11       the terms notified to the UNSC?

        12       A.   Well, I don't believe that BHP accepted this was a

        13       closed matter, and I was told that BHP would pursue this

        14       matter.  So I have not - not recalled this letter when

        15       Mr Davidson Kelly approached me.  I just did not recall

        16       this letter.

        17

        18       Q.   You didn't recall the letter?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you recall the substance of the letter?

        22       A.   No.

        23

        24       Q.   Did you recall that, as far as DFAT was concerned, in

        25       May of 1996, the sale in January was closed and must remain

        26       closed, with the shipment having been sent and received in

        27       the terms notified to the UNSC?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       Q.   Did you inquire from Mr Davidson-Kelly as to whether

        31       he had raised the matter with DFAT or the United Nations?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you remember that there had

        35       been a shipment of wheat paid for by BHP?

        36       A.   Yes, Commissioner.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you not remember that BHP had tried to

        39       reformulate the gift of wheat to Iraq as a credit

        40       arrangement?

        41       A.   Not in - could you repeat the question?

        42

        43       Q.   Did you not remember that BHP had tried to reformulate

        44       the gift of wheat to Iraq as a credit arrangement?

        45       A.   I was aware that BHP - I am now in BHP and I'm aware

        46       now, probably in light of these discussions, that the way

        47       BHP had negotiated or set up their arrangements in Iraq and
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         1       the way the vessel had, as you said in the chronology, been

         2       shipped at this point, that DFAT were now saying that that

         3       was not acceptable, so - it appears to be in that letter.

         4       So BHP, by virtue of this letter, had an issue that it had

         5       to work through.

         6

         7       Q.   Did you not remember that BHP had tried to reformulate

         8       the gift of wheat to Iraq as a credit arrangement?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But you were involved in it,

        12       according to this.  It was you who went to the department

        13       seeking to discuss the matter with them.

        14       A.   Well, I think the department, if I recall,

        15       approached - I'm not sure who instigated, Commissioner, the

        16       initial conversation between Grant-Thomson and Mr Pierce.

        17

        18       Q.   Whoever initiated it, it was you and Mr Lyons who were

        19       advancing the matters about which this letter was giving

        20       advice, according to the letter?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You were seeking the answers to questions

        24       relating to the shipment of wheat against a five-year

        25       letter of credit.

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   This had been a matter of considerable interest within

        29       BHP, had it not, up to 27 May 1996?

        30       A.   I'm not sure it was - I'm not sure how widely it was

        31       known in BHP.

        32

        33       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0205.0019.  This is an

        34       email from you to Mr Harley, Mr Lyons, Mr Davidson Kelly,

        35       Mr Taylor and Mr Worthington.  The last two lines read:

        36

        37            On the payment/legal issue DFAT is still

        38            contemplating their position, we expect to

        39            have a response within the next day or so.

        40

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   Mr Harley was the group manager, business development,

        44       at BHP Petroleum, was he?

        45       A.   I'm not sure of Mr Harley's title at the time.

        46

        47       Q.   I'm just reading that from the letter of May 1996.
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         1       A.   Oh, sorry, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Mr Lyons was in-house legal counsel?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly was what?

         7       A.   I think he might have been business development

         8       manager, resident business development, or some such title.

         9       I'm not sure what his title exactly was.

        10

        11       Q.   Mr Alan Taylor?

        12       A.   Mr Alan Taylor was a geologist or an engineer.  I'm

        13       not sure of Mr Taylor's title.

        14

        15       Q.   And Mr Peter worthington?

        16       A.   Mr Worthington was a lawyer-cum-commercial negotiator,

        17       contract negotiator.  I'm not sure of his specific title.

        18

        19       Q.   May we assume, then, that the matter was as widely

        20       known as the list of names on your email which is on the

        21       screen?

        22       A.   I don't know that that's correct.  I don't actually

        23       know how widely known this subject was in BHP, so I'm not

        24       sure whether Mr Taylor and Mr Worthington knew about the

        25       subject.  I certainly know that Mr Harley and

        26       Mr Davidson Kelly and Mr Lyons knew about the subject.  I'm

        27       not sure if the other two gentlemen were aware of the

        28       subject.

        29

        30       Q.   Nevertheless, you included them in an email which

        31       recorded:

        32

        33            On the payment/legal issue DFAT is still

        34            contemplating their position, we expect to

        35            have a response within the next day or so.

        36

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Mr Stott, it's not likely you would ever have

        40       forgotten being party to discussions with DFAT on the issue

        41       of the shipment of wheat against a five-year letter of

        42       credit, is it?

        43       A.   I've forgotten, Mr Agius.

        44

        45       Q.   Mr Stott, when you were at AWB, having returned there

        46       from BHP, you were requested to assist in the recoupment of

        47       money on account of that shipment of wheat.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   In terms where it was made plain to you that the wheat

         4       had been provided with deferred payment for five years and

         5       that interest was running.

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   This was almost precisely what was the problem being

         9       addressed in this letter of 27 May 1996.

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And it didn't jog your memory that, "Just a minute,

        13       DFAT has already said that we can't do this"?

        14       A.   No, not in 2000, when I was written to in 2000.  I

        15       moved out of Iraq.  I had a couple of visits with BHP in

        16       Iraq.  I spent my time focused on a proposed pipeline

        17       development, a gas pipeline, from Iran to Pakistan and

        18       India linked to a South Pars gas field.  We had to contend

        19       with the ILSA legislation, which was the Iran-Libyan

        20       Sanctions Act, extraterritorial legislation that the

        21       Americans imposed on companies in this part of the world.

        22       I just did not recall this letter in 2000, when I came to

        23       the AWB.

        24

        25       Q.   You might have done all of those things at BHP, but

        26       one can't put to one side that you were involved at the

        27       front end of this deal at AWB - you were then involved,

        28       still at the front end of this deal, at BHP, and then, as

        29       luck would have it, you became involved again in 2000, when

        30       Tigris was seeking to recover what Tigris described as a

        31       debt.  Are you saying that, in those circumstances in 2000,

        32       you did not recall that the Department of Foreign Affairs

        33       had indicated that this was a closed matter and must remain

        34       closed?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       EXHIBIT #267 EMAIL FROM MR STOTT TO MR HARLEY, MR LYONS,

        38       MR DAVIDSON KELLY, MR TAYLOR AND MR WORTHINGTON,

        39       BARCODED AWB.0205.0019

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time?

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll adjourn until 10am on Monday.

        44

        45       AT 4.40PM THE HEARING WAS ADJOURNED

        46       TO MONDAY, 13 FEBRUARY 2006 AT 10AM

        47
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